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Chairman’s Statement

ER®E

TAI Tak Fung, Stephen, GBS, SBS, Jb, Chairman

KPR s sps kAt A

RESULTS

For the financial year ended 31 March 2016, the Group’s turnover
was HK$180,376,000 (2015: HK$216,837,000); and loss attributable
to equity holders of the Company was HK$15,549,000 (2015: Profit
HK$21,569,000) while loss per share was HK5.99 cents (2015:
earnings per share HK8.31 cents).

DIVIDEND

The board of directors does not recommend the payment of any
dividend with respect to the financial year ended 31 March 2016.

BUSINESS REVIEW

For the year under review, the deteriorating economic conditions of
both Hong Kong and Mainland China weakened the consumption
power of these markets and the business environment became more
challenging. Besides, the oversupply of frozen meats from overseas
led to a downward pressure on the local selling price. Facing with
keen competition, the Group increased its operational expenses to
counteract market competition. Compared with last financial year, in
the absence of one-off gain on disposal of a property during the year
and decline in the share of profits from the food business investment
in Four Seas Mercantile Holdings Limited (“FSMHL”), the Group
recorded a loss for this financial year.

4 HONG KONG FOOD INVESTMENT HOLDINGS LIMITED | Annual Report 2016
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Chairman’s Statement

ERBE

AUSTRALIA J

Always bring you the world’s superior quality frozen meats

TEHEIRHF (] 77 785 75 A BEEL IR AT

Frozen Meats Trading

During the year, frozen meats market was volatile. On one hand,
the relatively significant depreciation of exchange rates of many
major meats exporting countries in South America and European
Union prompted them to largely increase their exports. On the other
hand, the sluggish economic conditions of many importing countries
dampened their needs and demands for meat imports and thus led to
global oversupply of meats. For the sales side, affected by the reduced
number of visitors from Mainland China, as a result of economic
slowdown of Mainland China, overall business environment and
spending sentiment in the Hong Kong market continued to be sluggish
which resulted in keener competition and drove down the local selling
price. To reduce the risk from sluggish selling price, the Group
reduced its purchases and cautiously optimised its selling strategy
which led to a decline in turnover for this year to HK$146,043,000
(2015: HK$180,056,000).
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Chairman’s Statement

ER®E

Retail Chain of Mini Department Stores

The slowdown of economic growth in Mainland China affected the
local spending sentiment and weakened its overall retailing industry.
However, the impact to our mini-store business has been mitigated as
a result of the Group’s strategy of expanding selling channel through
increasing the number of outlets via shop-within-shop with strategic
alliance partners, in addition to our self-operated stores. By now the
sales territories cover the cities of Guangzhou, Foshan, Dongguan
and Shenzhen. Turnover for the year was HK$34,333,000 (2015:
HK$36,781,000).

Food Business Investment

As at 31 March 2016, the Group maintained its equity interest in
FSMHL at approximately 29.98%. Following the economic slowdown
in Hong Kong and Mainland China, the retailing industry in these
markets weakened. In addition, the strengthening of the Japanese Yen
during the second half of the year under review brought along with
challenge to the businesses of FSMHL. In response to the deteriorated
market conditions and intensified market competition, FSMHL took
proactive measures by reducing the selling price of certain products
and increasing its spending in marketing and promotion. Such strategic
move aimed to maintain sales at a relatively stable level and uphold its
leading and competitive position in the market. As a result, the profit
of FSMHL was negatively impacted. The Group’s share of profit of
associates for the year was HK$13,742,000 (2015: HK$41,898,000).

PROSPECTS

Recent statistics indicates that the downward pressure on the economy
of Hong Kong will continue and the overall business environment
will be subject to challenge. Despite of this, the Group expects that
its frozen meats business will be developed steadily, by leveraging
on its extensive distribution network (spanning across wet markets,
supermarket chains, fast food chains and restaurants throughout Hong
Kong Island, Kowloon and New Territories) and its long established
and excellent relationship with business partners. Also, the Group
will continue to adopt a prudent sales strategy and control strictly its
operational costs.

The economy of Mainland China is now undergoing a transformation
from a high growth stage to a lower but sustainable growth phase. The
economic statistics of Mainland China for the first quarter of this year
indicated that the imports and exports have been gradually improving.
Coupled with central government’s prevailing stimulus monetary
policy for boosting internal consumption, it is expected that the local
spending sentiment will be improved which will benefit to the Group’s
mini-store business in Mainland China. At the same time, the Group
will continue to actively develop its business model of shop-within-
shop with strategic alliance partners, aiming at expanding its selling
channels and sales territories coverage so as to increase sales.

HONG KONG FOOD INVESTMENT HOLDINGS LIMITED | Annual Report 2016
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“Based in Hong Kong, Yearning for Mainland” is a committed
development strategy of FSMHL. Early this year, there was the
inauguration opening of the first “Blue Brick Bistro by YOKU
MOKU?”, featuring a combination of western cooking style and
Japanese cuisine’s concept in the golden district located at Lee Tung
Avenue in Wanchai. Also, FSMHL introduced into Hong Kong the first
“Calbee PLUS”, an innovative concept snack shop offering cook-to-
order snacks with local flavours, which was well received with positive
market response and is planned for future expansion. Again, early this
year, FSMHL officially launched the “Four Seas Okashi Land Foreign
Flagship Store” in “Tmall Global”, a comprehensive online shopping
platform covering the whole country to capture the rapid development
of online sales market. As the market responses have been encouraging,
FSMHL will actively develop this one-stop online shopping channel,
so as to drive up the sales of its food products. Besides, FSMHL has
enhanced its business at Nansha New Area in Guangzhou by operating
its own e-commerce platform and setting up in trial a cross-border
e-commerce direct purchase store to attract local residents and business
units, with the fusion of an experience store and online shopping store,
to buy directly its various imported products. To capture the vast
potential of the huge snack food market in Mainland China, FSMHL
commits to seize every business opportunity and explore various new
selling channels. It is expected that FSMHL will continue to contribute

stable earnings to the Group.

APPRECIATION

On behalf of the board of directors, I would like to express my sincere
gratitude to our shareholders and our business partners for their
support and trust to the management team. My gratitude also extends
to our staff for their loyalty and diligence in the developments of the
Group.

TAI Tak Fung, Stephen, GBS, SBS, IP

Chairman

Hong Kong, 29 June 2016

Chairman’s Statement
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EEENWR DM

The Group continues to operate in the business segments of frozen
meats trading and retail chain of mini department stores in Hong
Kong and Mainland China respectively. While frozen meats trading
accounted for approximately 81% (2015: approximately 83%),
retailing operation shared approximately 19% (2015: approximately
17%) of the total turnover of HK$180,376,000 in this financial year
(2015: HK$216,837,000).

Frozen Meats Trading

The performance of frozen meats trading business was continuously
affected by the imbalance of global supply of frozen meats over
demand. In addition, the significant reduction of tourists from
Mainland China to Hong Kong and the weak consumer spending
sentiment due to sluggish economic condition in Hong Kong led to
increased competition in the industry and thus depressed the local
selling price. The Group adopted a more prudent selling strategy and
therefore reduced the quantity of purchases to mitigate the business
risk arising from dampened selling price. As a result, the turnover
dropped by approximately 19% compared to last year.

Retail Chain of Mini Department Stores

Even though the economic slowdown in Mainland China affected the
overall retailing industry, the performance of the Group’s retailing
business was slightly affected. This was benefited from the strategy
of increasing selling channel and expanding sales districts through
the consignment arrangement with our strategic alliance partners.
Together with our self-operated stores, the operating locations span

across cities of Guangzhou, Foshan, Dongguan and Shenzhen.

8 HONG KONG FOOD INVESTMENT HOLDINGS LIMITED | Annual Report 2016

AAERE > BEBHEAETBIBENSBIREHRANYE S
B /NI 5 78 86 T S - 4R 8 5 0 %5 180,376,000
WL (ZF—HAF £ 216,837,000 7C) - HANE H X
Wi81% (ZF— T4 £183%) 5 W/MNE BRI Z1519%
(ZF—HE  H17%) »

HN R

UR A B 5 37 0 3R LR 52 B 2 R OOA 3508 7 oR 1
RO I b M VR % B T W o A W AU 59
BB > BEFEBFmME > S B EZM -
A3 10 A R B 7 AL ¥ 7 G R D A R
VA TRARK PR 485 8 5% JUE T 20 1) 36 785 R\ B » 7 S IR I Ll
HEETHEL19% o

/NI AR R SO

il I A AR B R R AT R SRR
A5 11 725 7t B 5 90 ) SR W 5 AR K Al DA v 8 6 B
KB /DNE & - 58 B R Bk 8 8 Ho i # 3R
W o A 4R M AR N B R BB B -
LI B A > 4 8 A 3T T = RN - Bl -
BRI



Management Discussion and Analysis

Key Performance Indicators

Management has been provided with the following key performance
indicators information to manage its business segments, through
evaluating, controlling and setting strategies to improve performance:

EEEFWRE DN

THEEBRE

DUT A R ZRBREE R AU B AR A W
BT > ARG AR RRAY B M T SR e DL
e X

Year ended 31 March
BREZHA=Z1—HILEE

2016 2015

e S ZER L

Revenue (HK$’ 000) B GERETo8) 180,376 216,837
Gross profit margin (%) EBRE(FH) @ 11.0 10.1
Trade receivables turnover (days)® JRE W B 5 R K R e (R ) @ 44 31
Inventory turnover (days)” R R CRE) 94 85
Operating expenses to sales (%) WEGMEHELE(FHk) @ 19.8 15.6

(1)  Gross profit margin is calculated as gross profit divided by revenue

(2) The calculation of trade receivables turnover days is based on the average
of the opening and closing balances divided by revenue and multiplied by
number of days in the relevant period

(3) The calculation of inventory turnover days is based on the average of the
opening and closing balances divided by costs of purchase for goods sold
and multiplied by number of days in the relevant period

(4) Operating expenses to sales is calculated as selling and distribution
expenses and administrative expenses relating to Trading and Retailing
(excluding depreciation and fixed assets written off) divided by revenue

Revenue

There was a decrease of approximately 17% in revenue over previous
year. This was mainly attributable to the decrease in sales of frozen
meats trading, as a result of the Group’s adoption of a prudent
purchasing and selling policy to reduce the purchase quantity in
order to mitigate the business risk arising from the volatile trading

environment.

Gross Profit Margin

Overall gross profit margin was increased by approximately 0.9
percentage point compared to previous year. While the gross profit
margin of frozen meats trading decreased mainly due to sluggish
selling price, it was more than offset by the better gross margin of
retailing business due to cheaper cost of imported Japanese products
benefited by the relatively lower exchange rate of Japanese Yen (as

compared in yearly average) during the year.

(1) BRI R BA B ARG ST
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EEENWR DM

Trade Receivables/Inventory Turnover

Turnover days of trade receivables were 44 days as compared to
31 days in previous year. This is mainly attributable to the Group’s
strategically increasing its proportion of sales to chain stores for more
stable profit margin which are normally provided with longer credit
days. On the other hand, turnover days of inventory increased to 94
days this year from 85 days of previous year. This was mainly caused
by the decrease in sales of frozen meats near the end of financial year.

Operating Expenses to Sales

Ratio of operating expenses to sales was increased by approximately
4.2 percentage points over the previous year. This was accounted by
the increased marketing spending to maintain market competitiveness
and increased operation costs in warehouse and delivery during the

year.

Food Business Investment

Established in 1971 in Hong Kong with firm commitment in food
business, FSMHL has been developing into a famous corporate
brand, with operations in diversified food businesses including food
distribution, food manufacturing, retailing and catering, and expanded

beyond Hong Kong to Mainland China.

During the year, in response to the economic slowdown leading to
weak market performance and intensified market competition of
retailing industry in Hong Kong and Mainland China, FSMHL took
strategical measures to adjust the selling price of certain products and
increase spending in marketing and promotional activities so as to
maintain sales at stable level for upholding its market leadership and
overall competitiveness. Meanwhile, the exchange rate of Japanese
Yen strengthened during the second half of the year under review also
negatively impacted to the profit of FSMHL.

As at 31 March 2016, the Group held equity interest in FSMHL at
approximately 29.98%, from which the Group’s share of earnings was
HK$13,742,000 (2015: HK$41,898,000).

10 HONG KONG FOOD INVESTMENT HOLDINGS LIMITED | Annual Report 2016
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Distribution Business

Food distribution continues to be the core business of FSMHL.
Leveraging on its strong sales team and an extensive international
sourcing network, customers are provided with different types of
internationally famous food products from Japan, China, Korea,
Malaysia, Indonesia, Thailand, the Philippines, Australia, New
Zealand, Britain, Ireland, France, Germany, Holland, Belgium, South
Africa and the United States. Distributed products cover a wide range
of snacks, milk powder, health food, beverages, sauce, seasonings,

ham and sausages, to satisfy needs of different customer groups.

Manufacturing Business

FSMHL has a total of 20 manufacturing plants in Hong Kong and
Mainland China. Under the stringent quality control and advanced
monitoring system in production, its plants meet international
standards and have earned numerous international accreditations,
including “HACCP”, “ISO 90017, “ISO 22000” and “Hong Kong
Q-Mark Product Scheme Certification”. All of the manufactured

products are well received in the markets.

Retailing and Catering Business

FSMHL always brings innovations to its retailing and catering
businesses. Early this year, FSMHL introduced into Hong Kong
the first “Blue Brick Bistro by YOKU MOKU”, a high-end western
cuisine restaurant featuring a combination of western cooking style
and Japanese cuisine’s concept. Also, the launch of the first “Calbee
PLUS”, an innovative concept snack shop offering cook-to-order
snacks with local flavor, pre-packed snacks and related gifts, has been
well received by the customers. Besides, the sales of the specialty store
“Okashi Land” and Japanese cookie store “YOKU MOKU” achieved
desirable performance during the year. In addition, under its superior
management and high-quality catering service, FSMHL’s Chinese
and Japanese restaurants are well received by customers, including
Japanese style “ShikieEtsu”, Shanghai vegetarian cuisine “Kung Tak
Lam”, Japanese-style dumpling fast food chain “Osaka Ohsho” in
Hong Kong, together with “Panxi Restaurant” in Guangzhou, Japanese
restaurants “Mori Café” as well as sushi restaurant chain “Sushi Oh”
in Mainland China.

During the year under review, FSMHL acquired Murray Catering
Company Limited, a lunch box and tuck shop services provider for
schools in Hong Kong. With its central kitchen in Tuen Mun, being
accredited with ISO 22000 and HACCP, and extensive distribution
network among schools, this company will further enrich FSMHL’s
food business and will provide plenty of synergistic effect to enhance
the business development of FSMHL.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EEENWR DM

Environmental, Social and Governance (“ESG”)

Recognising that ESG considerations provide a means to better
understand the impacts from its operational activities, mitigate risks
and identify opportunities, the Group is committed and will continue

to strive to build them into its strategies and operations.

Workplace Practices

The Group is committed to maintaining a respectful workplace free
from discrimination and harassment of any form and providing
equal opportunities for all of our employees in different areas,
including recruitment, compensation and benefits, training, staff
promotion, transfer, and dismissal. All employees are assessed based
on their ability, performance and contribution, irrespective of their

nationalities, races, religions, genders, ages or family status.

The Group prioritises work health and safety of every employee
in the workplace, complies with all applicable labour standards
and requirements to ensure accident rates maintaining below the
industry average. Appropriate preventive and corrective measures are
implemented to minimise potential hazards and accidents. On-going
internal and external trainings are provided to staff of different levels
to improve their competence so as to reduce their work stresses and

increase their work efficiency.

Environmental Protection

The Group places high emphasis on efficient usage of materials to
reduce the impact of the Group’s operations on the environment.
Packing materials, including paper carton boxes and plastic sheets,
are commonly and necessarily used for frozen meats products for
facilitating carrying and delivery, preserving low temperature and
avoiding food contamination. To this end, the Group has always kept
aware of the international development on environmental packing
materials for foods and will fully co-operate to conserve the resources

and maintain a sustainable environment.

To promote the conservation of natural resources, customers are
charged for provision of plastic carrying bags in our retailing operation
in Mainland China to encourage them to bring their own bags. Also,
energy saving lighting system has been installed throughout the

Group’s stores to conserve energy usage.

The Group also encourages its staff to save energy and resources in
daily operation and always seeks improvements in our shops and office

environment to help conserve energy.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Social Responsibility

Product safety is one of the core values of the Group which is vital
to business sustainability. To ensure the frozen meat products to
customers being high standard of safety, quality and reliability, only
reputable frozen meats suppliers and producers, whose process chain
and meat product safety are met with and granted by the respective
local governments’ acknowledgement of product health certificates
before exporting, are selected. In addition, all of the Group’s imported
frozen meats are permitted by the Food and Environmental Hygiene
Department of Hong Kong ensuring that the foods are wholesome,
hygienic, safe and properly labeled before distribution. For non-
food products being sold in the Group’s retail chain, product safety,
in terms of non-toxic and safety design, is ensured to meet both

international and Mainland China standard requirements.

Liquidity and Financial Resources

The Group generally finances its operations with internally generated
cash flows and facilities granted by its principal bankers. As at 31
March 2016, the Group had banking facilities of HK$340,000,000 of
which 44% had been utilised. The Group had a gearing ratio of 36% as
at 31 March 2016. This is expressed as the total interest-bearing bank
borrowings to equity attributable to equity holders of the Company.
Bank borrowings of the Group, denominated in Hong Kong dollars, are
mainly short term loans and trust receipt loans (the “Interest-Bearing
Bank Borrowings”) at prevailing market interest rates. The Interest-
Bearing Bank Borrowings which are classified as current liabilities
are repayable within one year. As at 31 March 2016, the Group held
cash and bank balances of HK$36,135,000. There were no significant
changes in the Group’s contingent liabilities and no charges on the

Group’s assets as at the end of the reporting period.

Staff Employment

The total number of employees of the Group as at 31 March 2016 was
157. Remuneration packages are generally structured by reference to
market terms and individuals’ qualifications. Salaries and wages are
normally reviewed annually based on performance appraisals and other

relevant factors.
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Report of the Directors
EEEHRE

The directors present their report and the audited financial statements
for the year ended 31 March 2016.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND BUSINESS
REVIEW

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. Details
of the principal activities of the principal subsidiaries and associates
are set out in notes 1 and 13 to the financial statements, respectively.
There were no significant changes in the nature of the Group’s

principal activities during the year.

Further discussion and analysis of these activities as required by
Schedule 5 to the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, including a
description of the principal risks and uncertainties facing the Group
and an indication of likely future development in the Group’s business,
can be found in the Chairman’s Statement and the Management
Discussion and Analysis set out on pages 4 to 7 and pages 8 to 13 of
this annual report. These discussions form part of this Report of the

Directors.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The Group’s loss for the year ended 31 March 2016 and the Group’s
financial position at that date are set out in the financial statements on
pages 44 to 124.

The directors do not recommend the payment of any dividend in

respect of the year.

SUMMARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION

A summary of the published results and the assets and liabilities of the
Group for the last five financial years, as extracted from the audited

financial statements, is set out below:

ERGHREEFGREURBE R -AE=ZA
Zt— IR EZ RSB -

TSR B 3R ]

AR T Z T Ry G P B o T B BR e 4 ] S I
B oy ] 2 B TR o BT B A ok B R 1
13 o A P 2 2 BESE 47 A HE S0 I i TR KB ) -

AW A TR B R RS PT MLE 2 W R I — B
i B o A (6 456 A 42 1) T 2 2 3 L e % A W B I
F AR [ S R AT BRI AR oI B R F 4 ) R
AEHEARBTH BB I3H X LW HAE R
LIk B o M o SR A R o R
HE A o

E 39,398

AEEMEE R -ANEEA=ZT—HILEEZER
Be AR A % H 2 B BOR DL B R 544 H 5124
HZMHE#REN -

AR IR A TR o

Yo 5 B

A4 908 2% T B AR B L A 2 SR A R B RE N L
DR HE 4% Bk B RS A T S, > SRR ¢

Year ended 31 March
BREZH=1+—-HIL4E

2016 2015 2014 2013 2012
RN e Sl T R ZE =4 B St o
HKS$’000 HKS$’ 000 HKS$’ 000 HKS$’ 000 HKS$’ 000
BT BT W T BT
RESULTS B’

REVENUE KA 180,376 216,837 231,589 386,056 711,865

PROFIT/(LOSS) FOR ENERA
THE YEAR (& 18) (15,549) 21,569 25,293 (23,620) (37,183)
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SUMMARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION
(continued)

A summary of the published results and the assets and liabilities of the
Group for the last five financial years, as extracted from the audited

financial statements, is set out below: (continued)

Report of the Directors
EEEHRS

YA 5 26 L HE 2 (%)

A AR P 25 A B B4 R O A 2 3 AR E A
A R BE 4K % B AC AL I > SRR
(%)

As at 31 March

R=H=+—H
2016 2015 2014 2013 2012
RN “E—HE “E—NE —ER—-ZF R St 2
HK$’000 HKS$’ 000 HKS$’ 000 HKS$’ 000 HKS$’ 000
BT BT BT BT BT
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES ¥ & J¢ fi 1%
TOTAL ASSETS B 589,274 635,181 601,975 631,918 720,956
TOTAL LIABILITIES B E (174,142) (191,121) (174,489) (226,702) (296,237)
415,132 444,060 427,486 405,216 424,719

The information set out above does not form part of the audited
financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

There were no movements in the Company’s share capital during the

year.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

At 31 March 2016, the Company’s reserves available for distribution,
calculated in accordance with the provisions of sections 291, 297
and 299 of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, amounted to
HK$36,717,000.

BORROWINGS

Details of the Group’s bank borrowings at the end of the reporting

period are set out in note 21 to the financial statements.
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Report of the Directors
EEEHRE

DIRECTORS

The directors of the Company during the year were:

Executive directors:

TAI Tak Fung, Stephen (Chairman)

MAN Wing Cheung, Ellis (Managing Director)
TAI Chun Kit

TSE Siu Wan

Independent non-executive directors:

CHAN Kay Cheung
LAN Yee Fong, Steve John
LUI Shing Ming, Brian

Mr. Fung Kwok Wing serves as a director of a subsidiary of the

Company during the year.

In accordance with article 105(A) of the Company’s articles of
association, Mr. Tai Chun Kit, Mr. Tse Siu Wan and Mr. Lui Shing
Ming, Brian will retire at the forthcoming annual general meeting.
Mr. Lui Shing Ming, Brian will not offer himself for re-election at
the forthcoming annual general meeting. The other retiring directors,
being eligible, will offer themselves for re-election at the forthcoming

annual general meeting.

Mr. Lui Shing Ming, Brian has confirmed that he has no disagreement
with the Board of Directors (the “Board”) and there are no matters in
relation to his retirement that need to be brought to the attention of the

shareholders of the Company.

The Company has received written annual confirmations of
independence from Mr. Chan Kay Cheung, Mr. Lan Yee Fong, Steve
John and Mr. Lui Shing Ming, Brian pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) (the “Listing Rules”)
and the Company is of the view that all independent non-executive

directors are independent.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

No director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual
general meeting has a service contract with the Company which is not
determinable by the Company within one year without payment of
compensation, other than statutory compensation.
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DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

The directors’ remuneration is determined by the Company’s board of
directors with reference to directors’ involvement in the Company’s
affairs, experience, responsibilities and the prevailing market level
of remuneration of executives of similar positions, and reviewed by
the remuneration committee of the Company. Details of remuneration
of the directors are set out in note 8 to the financial statements.
Particulars of the duties and responsibilities of the remuneration
committee are set out in the “Corporate Governance Report” of this

annual report.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

During the year ended 31 March 2016, a permitted indemnity
provision as defined in the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance was in
force for indemnities against liabilities incurred by the directors of the

Company to a third party.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN
TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS OR
CONTRACTS

Mr. Tai Tak Fung, Stephen, being a beneficial shareholder of FSMHL,
was interested in a contract for the supply of pre-packed food and
beverage products to the Group. Further details of the transaction
undertaken in connection therewith are included in note 27 to the

financial statements.

Save as disclosed above, no director nor a connected entity of a
director had a material interest, either directly or indirectly, in any
transactions, arrangements or contracts of significance to the business
of the Group to which any of the Company’s subsidiaries was a party

during the year.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
INTERESTS AND/OR SHORT POSITIONS
IN THE SHARES AND UNDERLYING
SHARES OF THE COMPANY OR ANY
ASSOCIATED CORPORATION

As at 31 March 2016, the interests and short positions of the directors
and chief executive of the Company in the shares and underlying
shares of the Company or any of its associated corporation (within
the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance
(the “SFO”)) as recorded in the register required to be kept by the
Company under Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to
the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code
for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model

Code”), were as follows:
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Report of the Directors
EEEHRE

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
INTERESTS AND/OR SHORT POSITIONS
IN THE SHARES AND UNDERLYING
SHARES OF THE COMPANY OR ANY
ASSOCIATED CORPORATION (continued)

Long positions in the ordinary shares of the Company

AT A
)t B B
7 ()

EX
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P HFED

TRA 2y W) ¥ BBy 2 AT

Number of ordinary shares held,

capacity and nature of interest

P 5 05 T B By 2 B H - B B B b A

Personal Corporate Approximate

interests interests percentage of

(held as (interests of the Company’s

beneficial controlled Total total issued

owner) corporation) interests share capital

2 Vi) B i AR vl © AT

il A B 2 (P A5 JBe A 48 2 B £

Name of directors WA (B2 H) ZHE) HE 2 48 5 "l

TAI Tak Fung, Stephen s 6,730,000 84,009,177 ® 90,739,177 34.95%

CHAN Kay Cheung BRAL B 800,000 - 800,000 0.31%

LAN Yee Fong, Steve John [y 800,000 - 800,000 0.31%
Notes: A

(i)  Such shares comprise:

(a) 30,914,000 shares, representing approximately 11.91% of the
Company’s total issued share capital, are owned by Careful Guide
Limited (“CGL”), which is wholly owned by Mr. Tai Tak Fung,
Stephen. Therefore, his spouse, Ms. Wu Mei Yung, Quinly, is
deemed to be interested in the 30,914,000 shares held by CGL;

(b) 52,907,250 shares, representing approximately 20.38% of the
Company’s total issued share capital, are owned by Special Access
Limited (“SAL”), a company wholly owned by Mr. Tai Tak Fung,
Stephen and his spouse, Ms. Wu Mei Yung, Quinly. Accordingly,
Mr. Tai Tak Fung, Stephen and Ms. Wu Mei Yung, Quinly are
deemed to be interested in the 52,907,250 shares held by SAL; and

(c) 187,927 shares, representing approximately 0.072% of the
Company’s total issued share capital, are beneficially owned by
FSMHL. CGL and SAL, whose beneficial owners are set out under
Notes (i)(a) and (i)(b) above, in aggregate hold more than one-third
of the total issued share capital of FSMHL. Accordingly, Mr. Tai
Tak Fung, Stephen and his spouse, Ms. Wu Mei Yung, Quinly, are
deemed to be interested in the 187,927 shares held by FSMHL.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
INTERESTS AND/OR SHORT POSITIONS
IN THE SHARES AND UNDERLYING
SHARES OF THE COMPANY OR ANY
ASSOCIATED CORPORATION (continued)

Long positions in the ordinary shares of an associated corporation

Director’s interests in the equity of FSMHL as an associated

corporation are as follows:

Report of the Directors
EEEHRS

o 48 B g
] V8 45
LY 1]

TR VB 2 I B OB By 2 % AT

25 TS AR AR I 2 T — DU O SR I e B i s A
T

Number of ordinary shares held,

capacity and nature of interest

P 5 05 T BB Oy 2 B H ~ 5 O B b g

Approximate

Personal Corporate percentage of

interests interests such associated

(held as (interests of corporation’s

beneficial controlled Total total issued

owner) corporation) interests share capital

2 vl B i R85 M 2

A5\ 2 (P2 AT A A8

Name of director WA (ERPH) ZHER) HE 2 48 5 Z BRI E

TAI Tak Fung, Stephen s - 259,478,0000 259,478,000 67.52%
Notes: Mt -

(i)  Such shares comprise:

(a)

(b)

(c)

70,000,000 shares, representing approximately 18.22% of the total
issued share capital of FSMHL, are owned by CGL, which is wholly
owned by Mr. Tai Tak Fung, Stephen. Therefore, his spouse, Ms.
Wu Mei Yung, Quinly, is deemed to be interested in the 70,000,000
shares held by CGL;

74,250,000 shares, representing approximately 19.32% of the total
issued share capital of FSMHL, are owned by SAL, a company
wholly owned by Mr. Tai Tak Fung, Stephen and his spouse,
Ms. Wu Mei Yung, Quinly. Accordingly, Mr. Tai Tak Fung,
Stephen and Ms. Wu Mei Yung, Quinly are deemed to be interested
in the 74,250,000 shares held by SAL; and

115,228,000 shares, representing approximately 29.98% of the
total issued share capital of FSMHL, are owned by Capital Season
Investments Limited, a company wholly owned by Advance Finance
Investments Limited (“AFIL”). Since AFIL is wholly owned by the
Company, which in turn Mr. Tai Tak Fung, Stephen, SAL, CGL and
FSMHL in aggregate hold more than one-third of the total issued
share capital of the Company, and therefore, Mr. Tai Tak Fung,
Stephen and his spouse, Ms. Wu Mei Yung, Quinly, are deemed to
have interests in the 115,228,000 shares of FSMHL.

) EEBA R

(a) ﬁt%m 000,000/8¢ B4 > 4 PO Y4 45 18 EL 38 47 e A<
A A18.22% » JH HICGLEER » WiCGLAI i #&
%%%éﬁﬁ?fﬁﬁ Hit > HEBTFWEALL
BB BEAT FECGLZ.70,000,000)8 JBe 4 2 HE 25 3

(b)  BE574,250,000/8 B 43 > Al O P 4 O AT i
AR HE B A119.32% > Ty ISALHER > MSALRI i
WEW R E R ETWRR LGNS - W
B o SR M e e R 3R SR L R A B
FAESALFT#545 Z274,250,000/8 B4R Z fi 25 5 B

(c) BE4115,228,000/% B4y - 46 9 9 4 B © %
17 JBe A 48 8% £129.98% » J3 HCapital Season
Investments Limitedff # f » ifiCapital Season
Investments LimitedHl] HHAdvance Finance
Investments Limited ([AFIL]) & #H - Bk
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
INTERESTS AND/OR SHORT POSITIONS
IN THE SHARES AND UNDERLYING
SHARES OF THE COMPANY OR ANY
ASSOCIATED CORPORATION (continued)

Long positions in the ordinary shares of an associated corporation

(continued)

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2016, none of the directors
and chief executive of the Company had any interest and short position
in the shares and underlying shares of the Company or any of its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO)
as recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company under
Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company and
the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.

During the year ended 31 March 2016, none of the directors and chief
executive of the Company (including their spouses and children under
the age of 18) had been granted, or exercised any rights to subscribe
for shares of the Company and its associated corporation required to

be disclosed pursuant to the SFO.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE
SHARES OR DEBENTURES

At no time during the year were rights to acquire benefits by means of
the acquisition of shares in or debentures of the Company granted to
any of the directors or their respective spouses and minor children, or
were any such rights exercised by them; or was the Company, or any
of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to enable the directors to

acquire such rights in any other body corporate.
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Report of the Directors
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ 3 B B SR AN 4 ) B By B A B By
INTERESTS AND/OR SHORT POSITIONS ZHERR B R

IN THE SHARES AND UNDERLYING
SHARES OF THE COMPANY

As at 31 March 2016, the following parties (other than the directors AN TR IR I B AR DI SR 336k 2 BB iR B 2
and chief executive of the Company, whose interests have been B risk s R _F—-XNE=ZHA=Z1+—H > BL
disclosed above) had interests of 5% or more in the shares of the I E R ARAGFEE I EITEANEA
Company as recorded in the register required to be kept by the DT ALBEAARA R SR, EREr Z 2%

Company under Section 336 of the SFO:

Long positions in the ordinary shares of the Company T AS 2 w3 BBy 2 W

Number of ordinary shares held,
capacity and nature of interest

PO 05 W B B Oy 2 B H - B B B A

Direct/
personal Corporate Approximate
interests Family interests percentage of
(held as interests (interests of the Company’s
beneficial (interests of controlled Total total issued
owner) spouse) corporation) interests share capital
Hik/ % 5 i 2t 2 i) B % iR 2 v BB

Name of substantial N £ (V2 A% (e AW ('Y} &d

shareholders VY'Y B (B4 Z Hidi) Z HidiE) R AGT  MATaKl

SAL 52,907,250% - - 52,907,250 20.38%

CGL 30,914,000 - - 30,914,000 11.91%

WU Mei Yung, Quinly [ - 37,644,000 53,095,177 90,739,177 34.95%

Notes: MFAE ¢

(i) SAL is wholly owned by Mr. Tai Tak Fung, Stephen and his spouse, (i) SALTTH#EE e RHETHERALL2EHE
Ms. Wu Mei Yung, Quinly. This interest is also included as a corporate Z AW o BURESE OB FE R B REG) (b) [ 3 M w47 B
interest of Mr. Tai Tak Fung, Stephen and described in Note (i)(b) in the NV R EGRAN A L
above section headed “Directors’ and chief executive’s interests and/or 2R BRIR A ] Ay B [ AR A | B R R 2 A
short positions in the shares and underlying shares of the Company or any —IEHFr A SRR 2 AT RER -
associated corporation” under “Long positions in the ordinary shares of
the Company”.

(ii) CGL is wholly owned by Mr. Tai Tak Fung, Stephen. This interest is (i) CGLJIH S e 2 G B o BhAE 2 B S5 Ft
also included as a corporate interest of Mr. Tai Tak Fung, Stephen and FE()(a) [ ¥ 35 K&t AT BN B R AR 2 ) S AT ] A B
described in Note (i)(a) in the above section headed “Directors’ and chief 30 % 0y B FH B By 2 RE 25 B B 1 4y Be b (A AR
executive’s interests and/or short positions in the shares and underlying N E) R Z | TE P i R B R e A

shares of the Company or any associated corporation” under “Long BAHEZAFIRES ©
positions in the ordinary shares of the Company”.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’
INTERESTS AND/OR SHORT POSITIONS
IN THE SHARES AND UNDERLYING
SHARES OF THE COMPANY (continued)

Long positions in the ordinary shares of the Company (continued)
Notes: (continued)

(iii) Out of the 37,644,000 shares, 6,730,000 shares (representing
approximately 2.59% of the total issued share capital of the Company) are
beneficially held by Mr. Tai Tak Fung, Stephen. Therefore, his spouse,
Ms. Wu Mei Yung, Quinly, is deemed to have an interest therein. This
interest is also included as a personal interest of Mr. Tai Tak Fung,
Stephen in the above section headed “Directors’ and chief executive’s
interests and/or short positions in the shares and underlying shares of
the Company or any associated corporation” under “Long positions in
the ordinary shares of the Company”. The remaining 30,914,000 shares,
representing approximately 11.91% of the total issued share capital of the
Company, are owned by CGL. This interest is also included as a corporate
interest of Mr. Tai Tak Fung, Stephen and described in Note (i)(a) in the
above section headed “Directors’ and chief executive’s interests and/or
short positions in the shares and underlying shares of the Company or any
associated corporation” under “Long positions in the ordinary shares of
the Company”.

(iv) Out of the 53,095,177 shares, 187,927 shares (representing approximately
0.072% of the Company’s total issued share capital) are beneficially
owned by FSMHL. The remaining 52,907,250 shares, representing
approximately 20.38% of the Company’s total issued share capital, are
owned by SAL. These interests are also included as corporate interests of
Mr. Tai Tak Fung, Stephen and described in Notes (i)(b) and (i)(c) in the
above section headed “Directors’ and chief executive’s interests and/or
short positions in the shares and underlying shares of the Company or any
associated corporation” under “Long positions in the ordinary shares of
the Company”.

Save as disclosed above, to the best knowledge of the directors of the
Company, as at 31 March 2016, no persons (other than the directors
and chief executive of the Company, whose interests are set out in the
above section headed “Directors’ and chief executive’s interests and/
or short positions in the shares and underlying shares of the Company
or any associated corporation”) had any interests and short positions in
the shares and underlying shares of the Company which were recorded
in the register required to be kept by the Company under Section 336
of the SFO.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

There was no outstanding share option at the beginning or at the end
of the year. During the year ended 31 March 2016, no share option had
been granted under the share option scheme adopted by the Company
on 28 August 2012 (the “Scheme”). Details of the Scheme are set out
in note 24 to the financial statements.
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PROFILES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

Executive Directors

Dr. TAI Tak Fung, Stephen, GBS, SBS, JP, PhD (honoris causa),
aged 68, has been an executive director of the Company since May
1997. Dr. Tai is the chairman of the Group, in charge of corporate and
policy planning. Apart from being awarded the Gold Bauhinia Star and
Silver Bauhinia Star by the Government of the Hong Kong Special
Administrative Region, Dr. Tai has also been appointed as Justice of
the Peace. He holds the Visiting Professor of South China Normal
University and South China Agricultural University, member of the
Board of Trustees of Jinan University. He is a Standing Committee
Member of the National Committee of the Chinese People’s Political
Consultative Conference (“CPPCC”) and a Standing Committee
Member of the Guangdong Provincial Committee of the CPPCC.
Dr. Tai holds several public positions, including the president of
the Hong Kong Foodstuffs Association, the president of Friends of
Hong Kong Association, the founding chairman of the Hong Kong
CPPCC (Provincial) Members Association and the chairman of the
Hong Kong Guangdong Chamber of Foreign Investors. He received a
number of awards and accolades, including Certificate of Honor for
Business Lifetime Achievement for Producing Quality Food Products,
Asian Social Caring Leadership Award, “Special Achievement
Award” of Asia Pacific Entrepreneurship Awards, the Worldwide
Prominent Chiu Chow Business Leader Award 2012-2013, the World
Outstanding Chinese Award, the Philanthropist Award of the Grand
Charity Ceremony 2011, the 30th Food Industry Distinguished Service
Award, the Award of the Ministry of Agriculture, Forestry and
Fisheries of Japan for the Overseas Promotion of Japanese Food, the
Outstanding Contribution Award of the China National Food Industry,
the China Food Safety Annual Conference Award of Distinguished
Management Entrepreneur, the Social Responsibility Contribution
Award, “Honourable Citizen of Shantou City”, “Honourable Citizen of
Guangzhou City” and “Honourable Citizen of Jilin City” in Mainland
China. He is also the founder, chairman and executive director of
FSMHL, an associated corporation of the Company and the shares
of which are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, and a
director of Careful Guide Limited and Special Access Limited, both of
which are the substantial shareholders of the Company. Dr. Tai is the

father of Mr. Tai Chun Kit, an executive director of the Company.
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PROFILES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT (continued)

Executive Directors (continued)

Mr. MAN Wing Cheung, Ellis, aged 60, has been an executive
director of the Company since July 1995. Mr. Man is the managing
director of the Group, responsible for the overall management
planning and control. Mr. Man has a Master of Commerce degree
from the University of New South Wales in Australia. He is also a
member of CPA Australia and the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants. He has gained extensive experience in finance and
accounting from overseas multinational corporations. Mr. Man joined
the Group in 1992. He is also an executive director of FSMHL.

Mr. TAI Chun Kit, aged 33, has been an executive director of the
Company since May 2013. Mr. Tai is responsible for new business
planning and development of the Group including the business
development of “Daiso Living Department Store” in Mainland China.
Mr. Tai holds a Bachelor of Business Administration (Hons) degree
from City University of Hong Kong. He has extensive experience in
retail management, brands development and marketing planning. He
joined FSMHL in 2004 and is a director of business development
department in FSMHL. He joined the Group in 2012. He is a son of
Dr. Tai Tak Fung, Stephen, who is the chairman and an executive

director of the Company.

Mr. TSE Siu Wan, aged 55, has been an executive director of the
Company since August 1992. Mr. Tse is responsible for the food
quality control of the Group. He has extensive experience in food
manufacturing and factory production management. Mr. Tse joined the
Group in 1980. He is also the managing director of Hong Kong Ham
Holdings Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of FSMHL.
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PROFILES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT (continued)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. CHAN Kay Cheung, aged 69, has been an independent non-
executive director of the Company since October 1995. He is a
senior adviser of The Bank of East Asia, Limited, the vice chairman
of The Bank of East Asia (China) Limited and the chairman of
Shaanxi Fuping BEA Rural Bank Corporation. He possesses extensive
knowledge and experience in the banking industry. Mr. Chan is a
fellow member of The Hong Kong Institute of Bankers, a member
of the Process Review Committee for the oversight of the Hong
Kong Monetary Authority, a member of the Clearing and Settlement
Systems Appeals Tribunal, a member of the Committee of Overseers
of Lee Woo Sing College, The Chinese University of Hong Kong, a
member of The China Unionpay International Advisory Group and an
international senior economic consultant of The People’s Government
of Shaanxi Province. Mr. Chan is also an independent non-executive
director of China Electronics Corporation Holdings Company Limited,
Chu Kong Shipping Enterprises (Group) Company Limited, Dah
Chong Hong Holdings Limited and SOCAM Development Limited,
companies whose shares are listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange.

Mr. LAN Yee Fong, Steve John, aged 75, has been an independent
non-executive director of the Company since January 1998. He was
the chairman of Evergreen Consultants Limited, president of Swire
Insurance Limited and chairman of Zurich Financial Services Group,
Hong Kong. Currently, Mr. Lan is the chairman of The Hong Kong
Tuberculosis, Chest and Heart Diseases Association, the chairman of
the Hospital Governing Committee of Grantham Hospital, a member
of the Hospital Governing Committee of Ruttonjee Hospital and Tang
Shiu Kin Hospital, and a member of the management committee of
Freni Care and Attention Home. He is a graduate of The University of
Hong Kong and a fellow of The Chartered Insurance Institute. Mr. Lan
has extensive experience in the insurance industry with intensive
involvement in corporate development.

Mr. LUI Shing Ming, Brian, aged 55, has been an independent
non-executive director of the Company since September 2004. Mr. Lui
was the chairman of Cheong Ming Investments Limited, a company
had been listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. Mr. Lui
holds a Master Degree in Commerce from the University of New South
Wales, Australia. He is a fellow member of both CPA Australia and
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.

Senior Management

Mr. LEUNG Tin Chi, aged 52, is the financial controller and
company secretary of the Company, responsible for finance,
accounting and company secretarial affairs. Mr. Leung holds
a Bachelor of Business degree from Swinburne University of
Technology in Australia. He is also a member of CPA Australia and
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Mr. Leung
has extensive accounting experience. He joined the Group in 1994.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

In the year under review, sales to the Group’s five largest customers
accounted for less than 30% of the Group’s total sales for the year.
Purchases from the Group’s five largest suppliers accounted for 87%
of the total purchases for the year and purchases from the largest

supplier included therein amounted to 54%.

None of the directors of the Company or any of their associates or any
shareholders (which, to the best knowledge of the directors, own more
than 5% of the Company’s share capital) had any beneficial interest in
the Group’s five largest customers and suppliers.

PURCHASE, REDEMPTION OR SALE OF
LISTED SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased,
redeemed or sold any of the Company’s listed securities during the

year.

CONTINUING CONNECTED
TRANSACTIONS

During the year under review, there was no transaction or arrangement
needed to be disclosed as a connected transaction in accordance with
the Listing Rules. The related party transactions as set out in note
27 to the financial statements are connected transactions/continuing
connected transactions exempted from shareholders’ approval, annual

review and all disclosure requirements under the Listing Rules.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the directors, at least 25% of the Company’s
total number of issued shares were held by the public as at the date of

this report.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Details of the Company’s corporate governance practices are set out in

the “Corporate Governance Report” of this annual report.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company has an audit committee which was established in
compliance with Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules for the purposes
of reviewing and providing supervision over the Group’s financial
reporting system and internal controls procedures. The audit
committee comprises the independent non-executive directors of the

Company.

The summary of duties and work of the audit committee is set out in

the “Corporate Governance Report” of this annual report.

AUDITORS

Ernst & Young retire and a resolution for their reappointment as
auditors of the Company will be proposed at the forthcoming annual

general meeting.

ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD

TAI Tak Fung, Stephen, GBS, SBS, JP

Chairman

Hong Kong, 29 June 2016
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Corporate Governance Report
CEEARE

The board of directors (the “Board”) of the Company is pleased to
present this Corporate Governance Report in the Group’s annual report
for the year ended 31 March 2016 (the “Annual Report™).

The Company’s corporate governance policies and practices are
applied and implemented in the manners as stated in the below
Corporate Governance Report.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company and the management are committed to maintaining
good corporate governance with an emphasis on the principles of
transparency, accountability and independence to all shareholders.
The Company believes that good corporate governance practices are
essential to a continual growth and enhancement of shareholders’
value. The Company periodically reviews its corporate governance
practices with reference to the latest development of corporate
governance. Throughout the year under review, the Company has
applied the principles of corporate governance and complied with
most of the code provisions of the Corporate Governance Code (the
“CG Code”) as set out in Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules with the
exception of code provisions A.4.1 and A.4.2 of the CG Code, details
will be set out below.

The key corporate governance principles and practices of the Company
are summarised as follows:

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Responsibilities, Accountabilities and Contributions of the Board
and Management

The role of the Board is to set up strategic goals, performance
objectives and operational policies; establish a framework of prudent
and effective controls which enables risk to be assessed and managed;
delegate authorities to the management to manage and supervise
the business of the Group; and ensure the management monitor
performance against objectives being set.

The Company has formalised a written guideline for the division
of responsibilities between the Board and the management. Certain
responsibilities or functions have been delegated by the Board to
the management which include the day-to-day business operation of
the Group, execution of corporate strategies, approval of business
and financial plans and budgets and preparation of annual and
interim financial statements. The Board has reserved for its decision
matters of the Group covering the approval of significant changes in
accounting or capital structure; approval of public announcements
and the financial statements; approval of major acquisitions, disposals
and major capital projects; approval of material borrowings and any
issuing or buying back of equity securities; and approval of the annual
budget and setting of the dividend policy.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Board Composition

The Board of the Company comprises 7 directors consisting of 4

executive directors and 3 independent non-executive directors.

The following chart shows the structure and membership of the Board
and Board’s Committees as at 31 March 2016:

Corporate Governance Report
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Board Composition (continued)

Biographical information of the directors and relevant relationships
among the directors are set out in the section headed “Profiles of
Directors and Senior Management” in the Report of the Directors of
this Annual Report.

Board Meeting
Number of Meetings and Directors’ Attendance

The Board meets regularly throughout the year to discuss and
formulate overall strategies for the Company, monitor financial
performance and discuss the interim and annual results, as well as

other significant matters.

The Board has convened four regular meetings during the year ended
31 March 2016 and the attendance record of each director at the said

board meetings and the annual general meeting of the Company is set

Hg (5
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out below:
Number of meetings attended/held
W BT K
Regular Annual
Board Meeting General Meeting
Name of directors W HH W a® B R AE R &
Executive directors HA7FHEF
TAI Tak Fung, Stephen (Chairman) W (E) 4/4 /1
MAN Wing Cheung, Ellis (Managing Director) — 3Lk (# 4 45 PH) 4/4 1/1
TAI Chun Kit B 4/4 1/1
TSE Siu Wan Ay E 4/4 /1
Independent non-executive directors W FEH AT H
CHAN Kay Cheung BRAL B 4/4 1/1
LAN Yee Fong, Steve John [P 4/4 1/1
LUI Shing Ming, Brian il 4/4 1/1
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Board Meeting (continued)
Practices and Conduct of Meetings

Notice of regular Board meetings is served to all directors at least 14
days before the meetings while reasonable notice is generally given for
other Board meetings. For committee meetings, notices are served in
accordance with the required notice period stated in the relevant terms
of reference.

Board papers together with all appropriate, complete and reliable
information are sent to all directors or committee members at least
3 days before each Board meeting and each committee meeting
to keep the directors or committee members apprised of the latest
developments and financial position of the Company and to enable
them to make informed decisions. All directors are encouraged to take
independent professional advice, at the Company’s expense, upon the
performance of their duties as and when deemed necessary. The Board
and each director have separate and independent access to the senior

management where necessary.

Minutes of all Board meetings and committee meetings are kept by the
Company Secretary. Draft minutes are normally circulated to directors
or committee members for their comment within a reasonable period
of time after each meeting and final version is open for directors’

inspection.

If a substantial shareholder or a director has a conflict of interest in
a matter to be considered material by the Board, the matter will be
dealt with in accordance with applicable rules and regulations and, if
appropriate, an independent Board committee will be set up to deal

with the matter.

Directors’ Appointment and Re-election

The Board is empowered under the articles of association of the
Company (the “Articles of Association”) from time to time and at any
time to appoint any person as a director either to fill a casual vacancy
or as an addition to the Board. Appointments are first considered by
the Nomination Committee and recommendations of the Nomination
Committee are then put to the Board for decision. Details in respect
of the process and criteria for the Nomination Committee to select
and recommend candidates for directorship are provided in the section
headed “Nomination Committee” in this Corporate Governance
Report.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Directors’ Appointment and Re-election (continued)

In accordance with the Articles of Association, one-third of the
directors for the time being or, if their number is not three or a
multiple of three, then the number nearest one-third but not less
than one-third, shall retire from office by rotation and re-election by
shareholders at the annual general meeting of the Company, such that
every director is subject to retirement by rotation at least once every

three years.

Under the code provision A.4.1, non-executive directors should be
appointed for a specific term, subject to re-election. Currently, all
independent non-executive directors of the Company are not appointed
for a specific term but are subject to retirement by rotation and re-
election at the annual general meeting of the Company in accordance
with the Articles of Association. As such, the Board considers that
sufficient measures have been taken to ensure that the Company’s
corporate governance practices are no less exacting than those in the
CG Code.

Under the code provision A.4.2, all directors appointed to fill a casual
vacancy should be subject to election by shareholders at the first
general meeting after their appointment. Every director, including
those appointed for a specific term, should be subject to retirement by
rotation at least once every three years. In accordance with the Articles
of Association, any director appointed to fill a casual vacancy shall
hold office only until the next following annual general meeting and
shall then be eligible for re-election. The Board considers that such
a deviation is not material as a casual vacancy seldom appears and
interval between the appointment made to fill casual vacancy and the

immediate following annual general meeting is short.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Directors’ Continuous Professional Development

Each newly appointed director receives a comprehensive, formal
and tailored induction on the first occasion of his/her appointment
to ensure proper understanding of the operations and business
of the Company and full awareness of director’s responsibilities
and obligations under the Listing Rules and relevant regulatory

requirements.

All directors have complied with the code provision A.6.5 in relation
to continuous professional development to develop and refresh
their knowledge and skills. From time to time during the year
under review, relevant reading materials on corporate governance,
regulatory developments and changes of accounting standards and
other topics relevant to the Company’s business and director’s duties
and responsibilities have been given to the directors of the Company.
In addition, some directors have been provided with in-house training
and attended seminars and workshops which are relevant to their work
and responsibilities so as to update their technical knowledge and

professional skills during the year ended 31 March 2016.

Participation by individual directors in continuous professional

development during the year under review is summarised below:
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Types of training

Name of directors WA Bl iRy
Executive directors HIr#EF

TAI Tak Fung, Stephen (Chairman) W () B,C
MAN Wing Cheung, Ellis (Managing Director) SCIK ¥ (3 A4S PE) A, B, C
TAI Chun Kit G A,B,C
TSE Siu Wan A E A,B,C
Independent non-executive directors % I B AT ot

CHAN Kay Cheung BRAHL S A, C
LAN Yee Fong, Steve John (58 i) A, C
LUI Shing Ming, Brian T A, C

A — Attending briefings/seminars/conferences/forums
B - Attending in-house training sessions
C - Reading updates on relevant topics related to corporate

governance/regulatory update
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Chairman and Managing Director

Currently, Mr. Tai Tak Fung, Stephen and Mr. Man Wing Cheung,
Ellis hold the positions of Chairman and Managing Director
respectively. Their respective responsibilities are clearly defined and

set out in writing.

The Chairman provides leadership for the Board and is responsible
for the effective functioning of the Board in accordance with
good corporate governance practices. With the support of the
executive directors and senior management, the Managing Director
is responsible for managing the Group’s business, including
implementation of objectives, policies and major strategies and
initiatives adopted by the Board. He is also in charge of the
Company’s day-to-day operation in accordance with the instructions

from the Board.

Independent Non-executive Directors

During the year ended 31 March 2016, the Board at all times met
the requirements of the Listing Rules relating to the appointment
of at least 3 independent non-executive directors, representing one-
third of the Board, with at least one of them possessing appropriate
professional qualifications or accounting or related financial
management expertise as required under Rules 3.10(1) and (2), and
3.10A of the Listing Rules. The Company has received a written
annual confirmation from each independent non-executive director
in respect of his independence and the Company is of the view that
all the existing independent non-executive directors are independent
under the independence guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing

Rules up to the date of this Annual Report.
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BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established 3 committees, namely the Audit Committee,
the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee, for
overseeing particular aspects of the Company’s affairs. All Board
committees of the Company are established with specific written
terms of reference which are available to shareholders upon request.
The terms of reference of the Board committees are also available for
viewing on the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee was established with specific written terms
of reference and all of its members are independent non-executive
directors, one of them possesses the appropriate professional
qualifications or accounting or related financial management expertise.
The Audit Committee currently comprises 3 independent non-
executive directors, namely Mr. Chan Kay Cheung (Chairman of Audit
Committee), Mr. Lan Yee Fong, Steve John and Mr. Lui Shing Ming,
Brian.

The terms of reference of Audit Committee were updated and adopted
by the Company in March 2016 pursuant to the amendments to CG
Code and Corporate Governance Report as contained in Appendix 14
of the Listing Rules relating to internal control and risk management
which would apply to accounting period effective from 1 April 2016.

The primary duties of the Audit Committee are to review and
supervise the financial reporting system and the risk management
and internal control systems of the Group, to monitor the integrity of
the Company’s financial statements and review significant financial
reporting judgements, to maintain an appropriate relationship with the
Company’s external auditors and to oversee the audit process.

The Audit Committee held two meetings during the year ended 31
March 2016 to review the accounting principles and practices adopted
by the Group and discuss internal controls and financial reporting
matters including a review of the interim financial statements for
the six months ended 30 September 2015 and the annual financial
statements for the year ended 31 March 2015 of the Group. The Audit
Committee has also reviewed the annual results for the year ended 31
March 2016 of the Group.

The attendance records of the Audit Committee during the year are set
out below:
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Number of meetings attended/held

Name of Audit Committee members HEEZEEANBE AN I TR f T8
CHAN Kay Cheung B B

(Chairman of Audit Committee) (FHZAEFH) 2/2
LAN Yee Fong, Steve John [:56 Y] 2/2
LUI Shing Ming, Brian G4 2/2
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BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee was established with specific written
terms of references and is currently constituted by 3 independent non-
executive directors, namely Mr. Lan Yee Fong, Steve John (Chairman
of Remuneration Committee), Mr. Chan Kay Cheung and Mr. Lui
Shing Ming, Brian and 2 executive directors, namely Mr. Tai Tak
Fung, Stephen and Mr. Man Wing Cheung, Ellis.

The Company has adopted the model where the Remuneration
Committee makes recommendations to the Board on the remuneration
packages of individual executive directors and senior management.
The primary duties of the Remuneration Committee are to make
recommendations to the Board on the policy and structure of the
Company for the remuneration of all directors and senior management
and the remuneration packages of individual directors and senior

management of the Company.

The Remuneration Committee has convened one meeting during
the year to review, inter alia, the Group’s remuneration policy and
structure; the remuneration packages of all directors and senior
management by reference to the individuals’ performance, skills and
knowledge, time commitment and responsibilities, and performance
and profitability of the Group, and the service contracts of the
directors for the year under review. Details of the remuneration of each

director of the Company are set out in note 8 to financial statements.

The attendance records of the Remuneration Committee during the

year are set out below:
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Number of meeting attended/held

Name of Remuneration Committee members FWZEREGRE AR W8T f ik
LAN Yee Fong, Steve John [:56 Y]

(Chairman of Remuneration Committee) € 1. EF-8EF D 1/1
TAI Tak Fung, Stephen s 1/1
MAN Wing Cheung, Ellis SO 1/1
CHAN Kay Cheung B B 1/1
LUI Shing Ming, Brian Gt 1/1

36 HONG KONG FOOD INVESTMENT HOLDINGS LIMITED | Annual Report 2016



BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)

Remuneration Committee (continued)

For the year ended 31 March 2016, the remuneration of individual of
the senior management, not being the director of the Company, by

band is set out below:

Remuneration band (HK$)

it WAL ()
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Number of Person

AY

Nil to 1,000,000

Further particulars regarding the directors’ and chief executive’s
emoluments and the five highest paid employees as required to be
disclosed pursuant to Appendix 16 of the Listing Rules are set out in

notes 8 and 9 to financial statements.

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee was established with specific written
terms of reference and currently comprises 2 executive directors,
namely Mr. Tai Tak Fung, Stephen (Chairman of Nomination
Committee) and Mr. Man Wing Cheung, Ellis, and 3 independent non-
executive directors, namely Mr. Chan Kay Cheung, Mr. Lan Yee Fong,
Steve John and Mr. Lui Shing Ming, Brian.

The primary duties of the Nomination Committee are to review the
Board composition, to develop and formulate the relevant procedures
for nomination and appointment of directors, to monitor the
appointment of directors and succession planning for directors and to
assess the independence of independent non-executive directors. The
Nomination Committee will also identify individuals suitably qualified
to become members of the Board and make recommendations to the
Board on the selection of individuals nominated for directorships when
there are vacancies on the Board. All appointments will be made based
on merits and against objective criteria with due regard to the Board
diversity policy of the Company.

The Nomination Committee has convened one meeting during the
year to review, inter alia, the Board’s structure, size and composition
to ensure that it had a balance of expertise, skills and experience
appropriate to the requirements of the business of the Company and
assessed the independence of the independent non-executive directors

of the Company.

£ % 1,000,000

HEL B LTI AR U B Bk 1 6 2B R P 3 K dw S AT BN B 2 T
S VL B H A v B AR B B 88 2 i — 5 N U
B E M Es & -

RHZRA

AAF ORI AT B @ > W DL AT WA
THRE I > B E 2 AT I R R (A
B EM) B SORFE S A B340 08 3 I AT 3 3 A
B ok ~ B2 5 o SR b W S A ALK -

RAEZEAZ EEBM MRS EF T AR - B
Ll ERaG R MEFZMEARF BEEFZZ
AT S 5 A ) DA% Al 28 S AT B o M S
RAZE G GEESG B 2oy 646 6H
A AT e AN s S A B A A
AR AT L A o PR R
FREARANLWREE » 3 AR B B F
P (A E

RAZEERFENG AN~ KT#® > s Qb a
%) B G0N BB AL > IR g A
SERN > T E B KR T Ak R T 8 S A ] 3
B 5 . O P A A 23 W) B S R AT o S o

TE-AEFR | ERRERREEZRERARA 37



Corporate Governance Report
CEEARE

BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)

Nomination Committee (continued)

The attendance records of the Nomination Committee during the year

are set out below:

HRZHE ()
RAE UG (H)

AFEERA T Z W RS T ¢

Number of meeting attended/held

Name of Nomination Committee members RHEZHANBEHM B R AR
TAI Tak Fung, Stephen s

(Chairman of Nomination Committee) (1REZEETEE) 1/1
MAN Wing Cheung, Ellis SCIKFE 1/1
CHAN Kay Cheung BRAL S 1/1
LAN Yee Fong, Steve John RN 1/1
LUI Shing Ming, Brian 5 1/1
Summary of the Board Diversity Policy g8 B 25 o0 1k 80O 2

The Company recognises increasing diversity at the Board level as
an essential element in maintaining a competitive advantage. On 23
August 2013, the Company adopted a Board diversity policy (the
“Policy”) which sets out the approach to achieve diversity on the
Board of the Company. Under the Policy, the Nomination Committee
will consider a number of aspects, including but not limited to gender,
age, cultural and educational background, ethnicity, professional
experience, skills, knowledge and length of service in reviewing and
assessing the Board composition. The Nomination Committee has
assessed the composition of the Board against these aspects and has
come to the conclusion that it is a balanced board of directors.

Corporate Governance Functions

The Board is responsible for performing the corporate governance

functions set out in code provision D.3.1 of the CG Code.

During the year under review, the Board has performed the corporate
governance functions including: (i) reviewed the Company’s corporate
governance policies and practices, (ii) reviewed and monitored
the training and continuous professional development of directors
and senior management, (iii) reviewed the Company’s policies and
practices in compliance with legal and regulatory requirements,
(iv) reviewed the compliance of the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (“Model Code”) as set out
in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules, and (v) reviewed the Company’s
compliance with the CG Code and disclosure in this Corporate

Governance Report.
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MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code as the Company’s code of
conduct regarding securities transactions by directors of the Company
(the “Code of Conduct”). Having made specific enquiry of all directors
of the Company, the directors have confirmed that they have complied
with the required standard of dealings as set out in the Code of
Conduct throughout the year ended 31 March 2016.

The Company has also established the Code for Securities Transaction
by the Relevant Employees (the “Employees Code”) on no less
exacting terms than the Model Code for securities transactions by the
employees who are likely to be in possession of inside information of
the Company. No incident of non-compliance of the Employees Code
by the employees was noted by the Company throughout the year
ended 31 March 2016.

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

Financial Reporting

The directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the
financial statements of the Company for the year ended 31 March
2016. In preparing the financial statements for the year ended 31
March 2016, appropriate accounting principles and policies are
selected and applied consistently; judgments and estimates made are
appropriate and reasonable; and these financial statements have been
prepared on a going concern basis.

The senior management of the Company provides the Board with
such information and explanations as are necessary to enable the
Board to carry out an informed assessment of the Company’s financial
information and position, which are put to the Board for approval.

The Board is also responsible for presenting a balanced, clear and
understandable assessment of both annual and interim reports, inside
information announcements and other disclosures required under the
Listing Rules and other regulatory requirements.

The responsibilities of the Company’s external auditors, Messrs. Ernst
& Young (“EY™), are set out in the Independent Auditors’ Report of
this Annual Report.

The directors are not aware of any material uncertainties relating
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the
Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.

External Auditors’ Remuneration

EY have been re-appointed as the Company’s external auditors by
shareholders at the 2015 annual general meeting until the conclusion
of the next annual general meeting. They are primarily responsible for
providing audit services in connection with the financial statements of
the Company for the year ended 31 March 2016.
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT (continued)

External Auditors’ Remuneration (continued)

For the year ended 31 March 2016, fees paid or payable to EY
amounted to approximately HK$1,000,000 (2015: HK$975,000) for
audit and related services and approximately HK$159,500 (2015:
HK$83,500) for other non-audit services which include the taxation
services.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROLS

The Board is responsible for maintaining an adequate internal control
system to safeguard shareholders’ investments and the Company’s
assets and reviewing its effectiveness. The system, including the
strategies, policies and expectations on the oversight of the Company’s
internal control and risk management, has been designed to manage
rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives.
Therefore, it can only provide reasonable but not absolute assurance
against material misstatement, loss or fraud. The management is
accountable to the Board for implementing the strategies and policies
on internal control and risk management adopted by the Board.

During the year under review, the Board has reviewed the
effectiveness of the internal controls of the Group including the
adequacy of resources, qualifications and experience of staff of the
Group’s accounting and financial reporting function and their training
programmes and budget.

Effective for the accounting period beginning on 1 April 2016, the
Board, assisted by the Audit Committee, is required to maintain and
review the effectiveness of the risk management and internal control
systems on an ongoing basis, while the management is accountable
to the Board for implementing the strategies and policies on risk
management and internal control adopted by the Board.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Leung Tin Chi is the company secretary of the Company. During
the year under review, Mr. Leung undertook at least 15 hours of
relevant professional training.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Convening a General Meeting/Right to call a General Meeting

General meetings may be convened by the directors on requisition of
shareholder(s) of the Company representing at least 5% of the total
voting rights of all the shareholders having a right to vote at general
meetings or by such shareholder(s) who has made the requisition (as
the case may be) pursuant to Sections 566 and 568 respectively of the
Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the laws of Hong Kong) (the
“Companies Ordinance”). Shareholders should follow the requirements
and procedures as set out in the Companies Ordinance for convening
an extraordinary general meeting.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS (continued)

Proposing a Person for Election as a Director

The procedures for shareholders to propose a person for election as a
director of the Company are available for viewing on the Company’s
website at www.hongkongfoodinvestment.com.hk.

Putting Forward Proposals at General Meetings/Right to Circulate
Resolution at Annual General Meeting

Pursuant to Section 615 of the Companies Ordinance, shareholders
representing at least 2.5% of the total voting rights of all shareholders;
or at least 50 shareholders (as the case may be) who have a right to
vote at the relevant annual general meeting, may request to circulate
a resolution to be moved at an annual general meeting. Shareholders
should follow the requirements and procedures as set out in the
Companies Ordinance for circulating a resolution for annual general
meeting.

Shareholders’ Enquiries

Shareholders may at any time send their enquiries to the Company’s
registered office at Four Seas eFood Centre, No. 2 Hong Ting Road,
Sai Kung, Hong Kong for the attention of the Company Secretary.

COMMUNICATION WITH
SHAREHOLDERS

On 1 April 2012, the Board adopted a Shareholders’ Communication
Policy reflecting mostly current practices of the Company
for communication with its shareholders. Such policy aims at
disseminating information in relation to the Group to shareholders in
a timely manner through a number of formal channels, which include
interim and annual reports, announcements and circulars, and is
reviewed regularly by the Board to ensure its effectiveness.

The Company maintains a website at www.hongkongfoodinvestment.
com.hk as a communication platform with shareholders and investors,
where information and updates on the Company’s announcements,
business developments/operations and other information are available
for public access.

The Company’s annual general meeting provides a forum for
communication between the Board and the shareholders. The chairmen
of the Board and Board committees actively participate in the annual
general meeting and answer questions from the shareholders. Notice
of the annual general meeting is sent to the shareholders at least 20
clear business days before the meeting. All resolutions put forward
at shareholder meetings including the annual general meeting will be
voted on by poll pursuant to the Listing Rules and the poll results will
be posted on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company
after each shareholder meeting.

During the year under review, the Company has not made any
changes to its Articles of Association. A consolidated version of the
Company’s Memorandum and Articles of Association is available on
the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.
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Independent Auditors’ Report
B M B R

Ernst & Young RAREF BB
22/F, CITIC Tower ERPRRNZE IR
§i 1 Tim Mei Avenue PiERE212 ey.com

Central, Hong Kong

To the members of
Hong Kong Food Investment Holdings Limited
(Incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Hong
Kong Food Investment Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and
its subsidiaries set out on pages 44 to 124, which comprise the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 March 2016, and
the consolidated statement of profit or loss, the consolidated statement
of comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in
equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then
ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other

explanatory information.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control
as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation
of consolidated financial statements that are free from material

misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITY

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated
financial statements based on our audit. Our report is made solely
to you, as a body, in accordance with section 405 of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the

contents of this report.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. Those standards require that we comply with ethical
requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free
from material misstatement.
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EY:

To the members of
Hong Kong Food Investment Holdings Limited
(Incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability)

AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITY (continued)

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence
about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditors’
judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material
misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to
fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditors consider
internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation of consolidated
financial statements that give a true and fair view in order to design
audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not
for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of
the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the
appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
accounting estimates made by the directors, as well as evaluating the

overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and

appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

OPINION

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the financial position of the Company and its subsidiaries
as at 31 March 2016, and of their financial performance and cash
flows for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards and have been properly prepared in compliance
with the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Ernst & Young
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong
29 June 2016
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss

mEEER

Year ended 31 March 2016 §E=—Z—~"E=ZA=+—HILEE

2016 2015
RN R A
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
Mt it BT T BT

REVENUE A 5 180,376 216,837
Cost of sales 8 B B AR (160,574) (194,950)
Gross profit EF 19,802 21,887
Other income and gains JAth e A % Wi 25 5 1,517 6,576
Selling and distribution expenses S R o e (23,518) (22,221)
Administrative expenses ATECBH % (24,283) (23,459)
Finance costs Tl B AR 6 (3,089) (3,323)
Share of profits and losses of associates JE A W 72 A ) s A % s 1E 13,742 41,898
PROFIT/(LOSS) BEFORE TAX BrBEHi R A, () 7 (15,829) 21,358
Income tax credit Filr 45 B 41K 10 280 211
PROFIT/(LOSS) FOR THE YEAR AN A B Sk JBS 7 A 2 W) BE 2%

ATTRIBUTABLE TO EQUITY Wit # 2 8M, (E#E)

HOLDERS OF THE COMPANY (15,549) 21,569

HK cents A HK cents Ml

EARNINGS/(LOSS) PER SHARE AR ) WA A H

ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY AN B B B R Ol 4H)

EQUITY HOLDERS OF

THE COMPANY

— Basic and diluted — F A % 11 (5.99) 8.31
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

e 2R E R

Year ended 31 March 2016 BE=F— A NF=ZA=+—HLEFE

2016 2015
—R N S T S
HKS$’000 HK$’000
T o W
PROFIT/(LOSS) FOR THE YEAR AAEERRA Ol #) (15,549) 21,569
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE b 4w ek Ol 8)
INCOME/(LOSS)
Other comprehensive income/(loss) to MR EREEN B EHKZ
be reclassified to profit or Hib 2wzt (EHE) :
loss in subsequent periods:
Share of other comprehensive JRE A Tk 7 2 ] Y At 2 THI S 1R
loss of associates, net of tax (BRBiAR) (12,499) (4,912)
Exchange differences on translation EUSCRY) 3 Pl
of foreign operations (880) 90
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE LOSS 7 A B il 4 v S 4
FOR THE YEAR, NET OF TAX (B BE1%) (13,379) (4,822)
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE A AR B i M 2% O 1) 68
INCOME/(LOSS) FOR THE YEAR JR A 4y ) B 2% A
ATTRIBUTABLE TO EQUITY
HOLDERS OF THE COMPANY (28,928) 16,747
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

ma IR R &

31 March 2016 —ZZ2—X<E=ZA=+—H

2016 2015
R e
Notes HKS$’000 HK$’000
M 7t BT o BT T
NON-CURRENT ASSETS Ik Gt W) ¥
Property, plant and equipment LIE ) & 12 71,915 78,457
Investments in associates R E AR Z’E 13 424,005 433,709
Prepayments and deposits FEAT O R T & 17 1,566 1,916
Other non-current asset HAb IR B & E 14 540 540
Total non-current assets J I Bl E A 498,026 514,622
CURRENT ASSETS L) e
Inventories FeyLy 15 32,640 46,470
Trade receivables JRE W BT 5 R 3k 16 20,434 22,790
Prepayments, deposits and TR ~ 7T K
other receivables At 8 WK T 17 1,580 1,879
Due from associates JRE W W 2 A ) 13 459 -
Cash and bank balances B& R RATHE 18 36,135 49,420
Total current assets it B AR 91,248 120,559
CURRENT LIABILITIES i By £1 4%
Due to associates JE A5) Wt 2% A ) 13 318 231
Trade and bills payables JEAT B 5y R Ak B SR i 19 13,555 14,213
Other payables and accruals At JE A5 5 T B B it £ 20 8,276 8,323
Interest-bearing bank borrowings E AR B Z SRAT B 21 147,985 164,229
Total current liabilities i B A AR AR 170,134 186,996
NET CURRENT LIABILITIES R ) £1 45 4 (78,886) (66,437)
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT B8 7 DR AL W £ A
LIABILITIES 419,140 448,185
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES i ) £ 4
Accruals FE 5T £ AE 20 2,932 2,769
Deferred tax liabilities A S 5 TE £ A 22 1,076 1,356
Total non-current liabilities i B £ A 4,008 4,125
Net assets B 415,132 444,060
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

A B IR R

31 March 2016 —ZE—X<"F=A=+—H

2016 2015
TR N S T
Notes HKS$’000 HK$’000
B 7t BT o o
EQUITY B 2%
Share capital B AR 23 117,095 117,095
Reserves it 25 298,037 326,965
Total equity HE 2 484 415,132 444,060
TAI Tak Fung, Stephen &' MAN Wing Cheung, Ellis 3K+
Director # 3 Director # %
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
GERBEEER

Year ended 31 March 2016 BE=—Z—ANF=A=+—HILFE

48

Share of
Exchange other
Share fluctuation reserves of Retained Total
capital reserve associates profits equity
HEAl
B W B A
B f i Al B REA AL
HKS$'000 HKS$000 HKS$°000 HKS$°000 HKS$'000
#W T #W T #W T #W T #W T
(Note 25)
(W it25)
At 1 April 2014 REZZ—MENA—A 117,095 69 38,532 271,790 427486
Profit for the year AR R A - - - 21,569 21,569
Other comprehensive loss for the year:  AX4F B Hih 2 i i 8 ¢
Share of other comprehensive loss A4 i ) A
of associates, net of tax 2 EE > BRA% - - 4,912 - (4,912)
Exchange differences on translation BB 2 IS
of foreign operations - 90 - = 90
Total comprehensive income AR BB 2T R
for the year - 90 (4912) 21,569 16,747
Acquisition of non-controlling interest BTk 2 /2 i) 2 I 4 i Z
of the associates’ subsidiaries ERidd ol - = = (173) (173)
Transfer to share of other reserves of Wi 2 A B & AW Z
associates oAl s - - 537 (537) -
At 31 March 2015 REZ-HEZA=1—H 117,095 159* 34,157* 292,649* 444,060
At 1 April 2015 RZB—TAENA—H 117,095 159 34,157 292,649 444,060
Loss for the year KEEER - - - (15,549) (15,549)
Other comprehensive loss for the year:  ACHE S flb 2 T 48«
Share of other comprehensive loss A1 2 ) ) A
of associates, net of tax 2WEH > RHK - = (12,499) = (12,499)
Exchange differences on translation BIBANET < BT
of foreign operations - (880) - - (880)
Total comprehensive loss for the year  AW4F ff 4l 2 Tij f 41 = (880) (12,499) (15,549) (28,928)
Transfer to share of other reserves of Wi 2 JEA B & A v Z
associates Ho At s = - 912 (912) -
At 31 March 2016 REZZF-AE=ZA=1+—H 117,095 (T21)* 22,570% 276,188* 415,132

& These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of
HK$298,037,000 (2015: HK$326,965,000) in the consolidated statement

of financial position.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

HERETRER

Year ended 31 March 2016 BE=F— A NF=ZA=+—HLEFE

2016 2015
e %
Notes HK$’000 HKS$’ 000
Btk W T HEWT T
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING #BEHMHZH LR
ACTIVITIES
Profit/(loss) before tax %ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬂ/ (fs48) (15,829) 21,358
Adjustments for: ok T 51 & JE A a2
Finance costs Tl B A 6 3,089 3,323
Share of profits and losses of associates A i %5 23 W] i Al & Jis 16 (13,742) (41,898)
Bank interest income HATH BB 5 (51) (35)
Loss/(gain) on disposal of items of HEWE -~ BB Kk
property, plant and equipment HHZER (K) 7 8 (5,376)
Depreciation e 6,746 6,803
Reversal of impairment losses on T 435 I Wi B 2 MRk ol AL
trade receivables 7 - (846)
(19,779) (16,671)
Decrease/(increase) in inventories FEZEA 7 (Hm) 13,777 (1,658)
Decrease/(increase) in trade receivables e W B 5 Rk =2 WA (38 m) 2,306 (7,501)
Decrease in prepayments, deposits and TEARIE ~ 5T 4 KAl
other receivables JAE W sk T =2 ik A 559 1,925
Movement in balances with associates BRI AR X B E) (372) (24)
Increase/(decrease) in trade and FEAN E G R R IEZ
bills payables ¥, ) (630) 415
Increase in other payables and accruals Al R Ao 5K I B R it R =2 884 177 59
Cash used in operations and net cash REEBMMmHZ B4R
flows used in operating activities REEF BN FH (3,962) (23,455)
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING BERHZBERE
ACTIVITIES
Bank interest received T ERAT 8 51 35
Dividends received from an associate W BRI 4% 4y ) B B 10,947 10,371
Purchases of items of property, plant WEAME - W5 K fEIEE
and equipment 12 (713) 941)
Proceeds from disposal of items of MEWE - BE LR MEE
property, plant and equipment ZBA - 8,000
Net cash flows from investing activities BEEHZB WA FH 10,285 17,465

—B-XEEH |
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

GERERER

Year ended 31 March 2016 §E=—Z—~"E=ZA=+—HILEE

2016 2015
S R
Note HKS$’000 HKS$’ 000
Mt BT W IF T
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING G ) 2 Bl
ACTIVITIES
New bank and trust receipt loans WG SR AT B KR A5 RE O B K 146,415 178,458
Repayment of bank and trust receipt loans 5 %2 SR 47 8 3k K A5 5T W IR &3k (162,659) (162,070)
Interest paid AT A B (3,089) (3,323)
Net cash flows from/(used in) financing ~ BAEFHZ B EHRA
activities () F (19,333) 13,065
NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) IN ReERAEFHEAZ
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS Bim () ¥ 8 (13,010) 7,075
Cash and cash equivalents at ERZHERB&EFMEEE
beginning of the year 49,420 42,332
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, A/ [ [ 3 5 ) 22 28 > 540

net (275) 13

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AEERZBERBESMEH
AT END OF YEAR 36,135 49,420

ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF CASH B4 KB 4&%5H%EH &1
AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 2z
Cash and bank balances Bl 4 R SRAT 5517 18 36,135 49,420
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1. CORPORATE AND GROUP

INFORMATION

Hong Kong Food Investment Holdings Limited is a limited
liability company incorporated in Hong Kong. The registered
office of the Company is located at Four Seas eFood Centre,

No. 2 Hong Ting Road, Sai Kung, Hong Kong.

During the year, the Group’s principal activities consisted of the
trading of frozen meats, seafood and vegetables, and retailing
of consumer goods. The principal activities of associates are
investment holding, manufacturing and trading of snack foods,
confectionery, beverages, frozen food products, noodles, ham and

ham-related products, and the operations of restaurants.

Notes to Financial Statements

Bt %5 ¥R 5 Y A

31 March 2016 —ZE—X<"F=A=+—H

1. 2wl B 45 ¥R

AR 1 B PR A T A — SR A W
L Z A BR AT o AR B Z Rk R A A
VB R S 255 D R A B P

N AREEZ EEEBRRFRWAR
7 Mo ok B 5 DA R BN E B I A
ZHEERBRHERER - WEREHEER W
B HORE S & SRR R~ KRB R KRR A B
FE fh > DA e RE R o

Information about subsidiaries b I A v 2 B R
Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as B ETEMBAR ZERBWT :
follows:
Percentage
Place of Issued of equity
incorporation/ ordinary/ attributable
registration registered to the Company Principal
Name and business share capital Direct Indirect activities
7 4 W) HE AN
wk i 3 RN BB, L E-Nipidia
# Bl B B8 wl: i JBg A% H# A 4% EX =3
Capital Season Investments British Virgin USS$1 - 100 Investment
Limited Islands/ 1367 holding
Hong Kong wE K
RBRLREE
B
Hung King Development Hong Kong HK$400,000 - 100 Property
Limited HH 400,000% 76 holding
W BRARAF L/ESEEE]
William Food Company Hong Kong HK$10,000,000 100 - Trading of
Limited o v 10,000,000% 7t frozen meats,
R A A HE seafood and

7 2
12 7 ¢

People’ s Republic

of China (“PRC”)/
Mainland China

Gk YN:E

(Tep i) o i oK e

HK$45,700,000
(2015:
HK$45,000,000)
45,700,000% JC
(ZF—H4
45,000,000% JG)

vegetables
e

- 100 Retailing for
consumer

goods
FHAINHR
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Notes to Financial Statements

Bt #5825 B AE

31 March 2016 —ZZ2—X<E=ZA=+—H

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP 1.

INFORMATION (continued)

Information about subsidiaries (continued)

& Not audited by Ernst & Young, Hong Kong or another member firm
of the Ernst & Young global network

2 This subsidiary is registered as a wholly-foreign-owned enterprise
under PRC law.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in
the opinion of the directors, principally affected the results for
the year or formed a substantial portion of the net assets of the
Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion
of the directors, result in particulars of excessive length.

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) (which
include all Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong
Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and Interpretations)
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (the “HKICPA”), accounting principles generally
accepted in Hong Kong and the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance. They have been prepared under the historical cost
convention and are presented in Hong Kong dollars (“HK$”)
and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand except when

otherwise indicated.

As at 31 March 2016, the Group had net current liabilities
of HK$78,886,000. The directors believe that the Group has
sufficient cash flows from operations to meet its liabilities as
and when they fall due. Therefore, the consolidated financial

statements are prepared on a going concern basis.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the “Group”) for the year ended 31 March 2016. A
subsidiary is an entity (including a structured entity), directly or
indirectly, controlled by the Company. Control is achieved when

the Company:

. has power over the investee;

. is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its

involvement with the investee; and
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2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

. has the ability to affect those returns through its power
over the investee (i.e., existing rights that give the Group
the current ability to direct the relevant activities of the

investee).

When the Company has, directly or indirectly, less than a
majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the Group
considers all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing

whether it has power over an investee, including:

(a) the contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of

the investee;

(b) rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and

(c) the Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for
the same reporting period as the Company, using consistent
accounting policies. The results of subsidiaries are consolidated
from the date on which the Group obtains control, and continue to

be consolidated until the date that such control ceases.

All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses
and cash flows relating to transactions between members of the

Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if
facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one
or more of the three elements of control described above. A
change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of

control, is accounted for as an equity transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises
(1) the assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary,
(ii) the carrying amount of any non-controlling interest and
(iii) the cumulative translation differences recorded in equity;
and recognises (i) the fair value of the consideration received,
(i1) the fair value of any investment retained and (iii) any
resulting surplus or deficit in profit or loss. The Group’s share
of components previously recognised in other comprehensive
income is reclassified to profit or loss or retained profits, as
appropriate, on the same basis as would be required if the Group

had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities.
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Notes to Financial Statements
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2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2.2 (TR BOR R BB 2 S B)
AND DISCLOSURES

The Group has adopted the following revised standards for the 245 ) A A A B B S i v IR ER A DL R AR
first time for the current year’s financial statements. TERTHEH -
Amendments to HKAS 19 Defined Benefit Plans: T vis & 513 Q) 5B 1998 Z B 5T & B 4 AUl 7t 21 -
Employee Contributions A=F5¢
Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2010-2012 Cycle BB HEIRGEZ T - F—FFEE
TR AR R 2 A
Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2011-2013 Cycle BB BRI ZEGT ZFE——FF

SR R

The adoption of the above revised standards has had no FRAN bt 48806 T 3 ) 36 4 B 5 R R I A RO
significant financial effect on these financial statements. L 32
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2.3ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE

HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING

STANDARDS

The Group has not applied the following new and revised

HKFRSs, that have been issued but are not yet effective, in these

financial statements.

HKERS 9
Amendments to HKFRS 10
and HKAS 28 (2011)

Amendments to HKFRS 10,
HKFRS 12 and HKAS 28
(2011)

Amendments to HKFRS 11

HKEFRS 14

HKFRS 15

HKFRS 16

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 16
and HKAS 38

Amendments to HKAS 16
and HKAS 41

Amendments to HKAS 27
(2011)

Annual Improvements
2012-2014 Cycle

Financial Instruments*

Sale or Contribution of Assets
between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture’

Investment Entities:

Applying the Consolidation Exception'

Accounting for Acquisitions of

Interests in Joint Operations'
Regulatory Deferral Accounts*
Revenue from Contracts with Customers*
Lease?
Disclosure Initiative'
Clarification of Acceptable Methods

of Depreciation and Amortisation'

Agriculture: Bearer Plants'

Equity Method in Separate Financial
Statements'
Amendments to a number of HKFRSs'

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2016

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019

Effective for an entity that first adopts HKFRSs for its annual

financial statements beginning on or after 1 January 2016 and

therefore is not applicable to the Group

adoption

No mandatory effective date yet determined but available for early

238
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Notes to Financial Statements
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2.3ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE 2.3 LA AR 0 R 2 32 7 U8 T i

HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (continued)

Further information about those HKFRSs that are expected to be
applicable to the Group is as follows:

In September 2014, the HKICPA issued the final version
of HKFRS 9, bringing together all phases of the financial
instruments project to replace HKAS 39 and all previous
versions of HKFRS 9. The standard introduces new requirements
for classification and measurement, impairment and hedge
accounting. The Group expects to adopt HKFRS 9 from 1 April
2018. The Group is currently assessing the impact of the

standard.

The amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 (2011) address
an inconsistency between the requirements in HKFRS 10 and
in HKAS 28 (2011) in dealing with the sale or contribution of
assets between an investor and its associate or joint venture. The
amendments require a full recognition of a gain or loss when
the sale or contribution of assets between an investor and its
associate or joint venture constitutes a business. For a transaction
involving assets that do not constitute a business, a gain or loss
resulting from the transaction is recognised in the investor’s
profit or loss only to the extent of the unrelated investor’s
interest in that associate or joint venture. The amendments are to
be applied prospectively. There is no mandatory effective date
yet determined but available for early adoption. The Group is
currently accessing the impact of the amendments.

The amendments to HKFRS 11 require that an acquirer of
an interest in a joint operation in which the activity of the
joint operation constitutes a business must apply the relevant
principles for business combinations in HKFRS 3. The
amendments also clarify that a previously held interest in a joint
operation is not remeasured on the acquisition of an additional
interest in the same joint operation while joint control is retained.
In addition, a scope exclusion has been added to HKFRS 11
to specify that the amendments do not apply when the parties
sharing joint control, including the reporting entity, are under
common control of the same ultimate controlling party. The
amendments apply to both the acquisition of the initial interest
in a joint operation and the acquisition of any additional interests
in the same joint operation. The amendments are not expected to
have any impact on the financial position or performance of the

Group upon adoption on 1 April 2016.
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2.3ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE

HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (continued)

HKFRS 15 establishes a new five-step model to account for
revenue arising from contracts with customers. Under HKFRS 15,
revenue is recognised at an amount that reflects the consideration
to which an entity expects to be entitled in exchange for
transferring goods or services to a customer. The principles in
HKFRS 15 provide a more structured approach for measuring
and recognising revenue. The standard also introduces extensive
qualitative and quantitative disclosure requirements, including
disaggregation of total revenue, information about performance
obligations, changes in contract asset and liability account
balances between periods and key judgements and estimates.
The standard will supersede all current revenue recognition
requirements under HKFRSs. In September 2015, the HKICPA
issued an amendment to HKFRS 15 regarding a one-year deferral
of the mandatory effective date of HKFRS 15 to 1 January 2018.
The Group expects to adopt HKFRS 15 on 1 April 2018 and is
currently assessing the impact of HKFRS 15 upon adoption.

HKFRS 16 sets out the principles for the recognition,
measurement, presentation and disclosure of leases. The standard
introduces a single lessee accounting model and requires a lessee
to recognise assets and liabilities for all leases with a term of
more than 12 months, unless the underlying asset is of low value.
A lessee is required to recognise a right-of-use asset representing
its right to use the underlying leased asset and a lease liability
representing its obligation to make lease payments. HKFRS 16
substantially carries forward the lessor accounting requirements
in HKAS 17. Accordingly, a lessor continues to classify its
leases as operating leases or finance leases, and to account for
those two types of leases differently. The Group expects to adopt
HKFRS 16 on 1 April 2019 and is currently assessing the impact
of HKFRS 16 upon adoption.
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Bt #5825 B AE

31 March 2016 —ZZ2—X<E=ZA=+—H

2.3ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE 2.3 LA AR 0 R 2 32 7 U8 T i

HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1 include narrow-focus improvements in
respect of the presentation and disclosure in financial statements.

The amendments clarify:
(i) the materiality requirements in HKAS 1;

(i) that specific line items in the statement of profit or loss and

the statement of financial position may be disaggregated;

(iii) that entities have flexibility as to the order in which they

present the notes to financial statements; and

(iv) that the share of other comprehensive income of associates
and joint ventures accounted for using the equity method
must be presented in aggregate as a single line item, and
classified between those items that will or will not be

subsequently reclassified to profit or loss.

Furthermore, the amendments clarify the requirements that
apply when additional subtotals are presented in the statement
of financial position and the statement of profit or loss. The
Group expects to adopt the amendments from 1 April 2016. The
amendments are not expected to have any significant impact on

the Group’s financial statements.

Amendments to HKAS 16 and HKAS 38 clarify the principle
in HKAS 16 and HKAS 38 that revenue reflects a pattern of
economic benefits that are generated from operating a business
(of which the asset is part) rather than the economic benefits
that are consumed through the use of the asset. As a result, a
revenue-based method cannot be used to depreciate property,
plant and equipment and may only be used in very limited
circumstances to amortise intangible assets. The amendments are
to be applied prospectively. The amendments are not expected to
have any impact on the financial position or performance of the
Group upon adoption on 1 April 2016 as the Group has not used
a revenue-based method for the calculation of depreciation of its
non-current assets.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Investments in associates

An associate is an entity in which the Group has a long term
interest of generally not less than 20% of the equity voting rights
and over which it is in a position to exercise significant influence.
Significant influence is the power to participate in the financial
and operating policy decisions of the investee, but is not control

or joint control over those policies.

The Group’s investments in associates are stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position at the Group’s share
of net assets under the equity method of accounting, less any

impairment losses.

Adjustments are made to bring into line any dissimilar accounting

policies that may exist.

The Group’s share of the post-acquisition results and other
comprehensive income of associates is included in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and consolidated other
comprehensive income, respectively. In addition, when there has
been a change recognised directly in the equity of the associate,
the Group recognises its share of any changes, when applicable,
in the consolidated statement of changes in equity. Unrealised
gains and losses resulting from transactions between the Group
and its associates are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s
investments in the associates, except where unrealised losses
provide evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred.
Goodwill arising from the acquisition of associates is included as
part of the Group’s investments in associates.

If an investment in an associate becomes an investment in a joint
venture or vice versa, the retained interest is not remeasured.
Instead, the investment continues to be accounted for under
the equity method. In all other cases, upon loss of significant
influence over the associate or joint control over the joint
venture, the Group measures and recognises any retained
investment at its fair value. Any difference between the carrying
amount of the associate or joint venture upon loss of significant
influence or joint control and the fair value of the retained
investment and proceeds from disposal is recognised in profit or
loss.
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Notes to Financial Statements
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31 March 2016 —ZZ2—X<E=ZA=+—H

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2.4 EEEFHEHEORHEHE ()

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Business combinations and goodwill

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition
method. The consideration transferred is measured at the
acquisition date fair value which is the sum of the acquisition
date fair values of assets transferred by the Group, liabilities
assumed by the Group to the former owners of the acquiree and
the equity interests issued by the Group in exchange for control
of the acquiree. For each business combination, the Group elects
whether to measure the non-controlling interests in the acquiree
that are present ownership interests and entitle their holders to
a proportionate share of net assets in the event of liquidation
either at fair value or at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s
identifiable net assets. All other components of non-controlling
interests are measured at fair value. Acquisition-related costs are

expensed as incurred.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial
assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate classification and
designation in accordance with the contractual terms, economic
circumstances and pertinent conditions as at the acquisition date.
This includes the separation of embedded derivatives in host

contracts by the acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the previously
held equity interest is remeasured at its acquisition date fair value

and any resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer
is recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. Contingent
consideration classified as an asset or liability that is measured
at fair value with changes in fair value recognised in profit or
loss. Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is not
remeasured and subsequent settlement is accounted for within

equity.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Business combinations and goodwill (continued)

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of
the aggregate of the consideration transferred, the amount
recognised for non-controlling interests and any fair value of the
Group’s previously held equity interests in the acquiree over the
identifiable net assets acquired and liabilities assumed. If the sum
of this consideration and other items is lower than the fair value
of the net assets acquired, the difference is, after reassessment,

recognised in profit or loss as a gain on bargain purchase.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less
any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is tested for
impairment annually or more frequently if events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying value may be impaired.
The Group performs its annual impairment test of goodwill as at
31 March.  For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill
acquired in a business combination is, from the acquisition date,
allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units, or groups
of cash-generating units, that are expected to benefit from the
synergies of the combination, irrespective of whether other assets
or liabilities of the Group are assigned to those units or groups of

units.

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable amount
of the cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating units) to
which the goodwill relates. Where the recoverable amount of
the cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating units) is less
than the carrying amount, an impairment loss is recognised. An
impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed in a

subsequent period.

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating unit
(or group of cash-generating units) and part of the operation
within that unit is disposed of, the goodwill associated with the
operation disposed of is included in the carrying amount of the
operation when determining the gain or loss of the disposal.
Goodwill disposed of in these circumstances is measured based
on the relative value of the operation disposed of and the portion

of the cash-generating unit retained.

Notes to Financial Statements

Bt %5 ¥R 5 Y A

31 March 2016 —ZE—X<"F=A=+—H

2.4 Bt BOREE ()

5 4 OF B v B (BD)

B R A B > B E R AR AN - Ok
i I e JBL i 2 e A 4 1 S i o R A 4 B M Ty
e AR g P KL > S O O T S )
T % P R M AR A 22 A o AR % A O
AR P W S L P S > R R A AR L
ZE ORI AR 25 VA Tl 0 2 e O e 2

TR AR e GRAZ > B R A WA T 2R R A
HEH R o PR AR AR R - (RN
ol ¥ Dt 4 Bl it S s R T VT BB AT 4 > AR
AR WAL - AL EREFEZA=+—
HAEAT WA B o % TEATHEIR - £ G
DR IRAT 1 T S 1 R > 3 B A A 4 Y 4
— {1 FE IO A 3 B Ot D 2 2 i B A e
ol B 4 Ak BT AL o T A i A 4 L i L
Bl AR A B TG A bt B T sl BE ST AL R

VoA 75 775 8 Ak B v R A B A B G 2k BT
(i B 4 7 2k ¥ o0 2 AL ) B4 mT g T < 4 TG Al
SE o i Bl 4 A BT (SRBR 4 Hh BT Z AL )
FR VT WAL T 5 A T L T > B R O
A5 o DRI I i 4 kL £ 2R S B A 0 A 488 [ o

BT B B A T (Bl A
TG Z AL ) il — T A T % BTG Y B T A 3 B
o Sl A e B SRS A IR AR IR o B B S
5 A ) #  EBSHE 9 A R B PR T N » A
WA DL H B B R R DA R S A B
B0 PR B R Ay 4 A SR R B AR L i o

CE-REFR | ERRERREEZRERAA 61



Notes to Financial Statements
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2.4 EEEFHEHEORHEHE ()

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Fair value measurement

The Group measures its equity investments at fair value at the
end of each reporting period. Fair value is the price that would be
received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the measurement date.
The fair value measurement is based on the presumption that the
transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place
either in the principal market for the asset or liability, or in the
absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market
for the asset or liability. The principal or the most advantageous
market must be accessible by the Group. The fair value of
an asset or a liability is measured using the assumptions that
market participants would use when pricing the asset or liability,
assuming that market participants act in their economic best

interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into
account a market participant’s ability to generate economic
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling
it to another market participant that would use the asset in its

highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in
the circumstances and for which sufficient data are available to
measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable

inputs and minimising the use of unobservable inputs.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Fair value measurement (continued)

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or
disclosed in the financial statements are categorised within the
fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest
level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a

whole:

Level 1 - based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities

Level 2 - based on valuation techniques for which the lowest
level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement is observable, either directly or
indirectly

Level 3 - based on valuation techniques for which the lowest

level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement is unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial
statements on a recurring basis, the Group determines whether
transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by
reassessing categorisation (based on the lowest level input that is
significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of
each reporting period.

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual
impairment testing for an asset is required (other than inventories,
financial assets and goodwill), the asset’s recoverable amount
is estimated. An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of the
asset’s or cash-generating unit’s value in use and its fair value
less costs of disposal, and is determined for an individual asset,
unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely
independent of those from other assets or groups of assets,
in which case the recoverable amount is determined for the

cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2.4 EEEFHEHEORHEHE ()

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets (continued)

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount
of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In assessing value
in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their
present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the asset. An impairment loss is charged to the
statement of profit or loss in the period in which it arises in those
expense categories consistent with the function of the impaired

asset.

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting period as
to whether there is an indication that previously recognised
impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased.
If such an indication exists, the recoverable amount is estimated.
A previously recognised impairment loss of an asset other than
goodwill is reversed only if there has been a change in the
estimates used to determine the recoverable amount of that asset,
but not to an amount higher than the carrying amount that would
have been determined (net of any depreciation/amortisation) had
no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years. A
reversal of such an impairment loss is credited to the statement of

profit or loss in the period in which it arises.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Related parties

A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(a) the party is a person or a close member of that person’s
family and that person

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;
(ii) has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii) is a member of the key management personnel of the
Group;

or

(b) the party is an entity where any of the following conditions
applies:

(i) the entity and the Group are members of the same

group;

(ii) one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other
entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow subsidiary of
the other entity);

(iii) the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the same

third party;

(iv) one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the
other entity is an associate of the third entity;

(v) the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of employees of either the Group or an entity
related to the Group;

(vi) the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person

identified in (a);

(vii) a person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence
over the entity or is a member of the key management
personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity);
and

viii)the entity, or any member of a group of which it is a
y y group
part, provides key management personnel services to

the Group or to the parent of the Group.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2.4 EEEFHEHEORHEHE ()

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and any impairment losses. The cost of an item of
property, plant and equipment comprises its purchase price and
any directly attributable costs of bringing the asset to its working
condition and location for its intended use. Expenditure incurred
after items of property, plant and equipment have been put into
operation, such as repairs and maintenance, is normally charged
to the statement of profit or loss in the period in which it is
incurred. In situations where the recognition criteria are satisfied,
the expenditure for a major inspection is capitalised in the
carrying amount of the asset as a replacement. Where significant
parts of property, plant and equipment are required to be replaced
at intervals, the Group recognises such parts as individual assets

with specific useful lives and depreciates them accordingly.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write off
the cost of each item of property, plant and equipment to its
residual value over its estimated useful life. The principal annual
rates used for this purpose are as follows:

Leasehold land under finance leases Over the lease terms

Buildings 2.5%
10% — 33% or over

the lease terms,

Leasehold improvements,
furniture and fixtures

whichever is shorter

Motor vehicles 10% — 20%
Computer systems 15% — 34%
Office equipment 10% — 33%

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have
different useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated on a
reasonable basis among the parts and each part is depreciated
separately. Residual values, useful lives and the depreciation
method are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at least at each

financial year end.

An item of property, plant and equipment including any
significant part initially recognised is derecognised upon disposal
or when no future economic benefits are expected from its use or
disposal. Any gain or loss on disposal or retirement recognised in
the statement of profit or loss in the year the asset is derecognised
is the difference between the net sales proceeds and the carrying

amount of the relevant asset.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Leases

Leases that transfer substantially all the rewards and risks of
ownership of assets to the Group, other than legal title, are
accounted for as finance leases. At the inception of a finance
lease, the cost of the leased asset is capitalised at the present
value of the minimum lease payments and recorded together
with the obligation, excluding the interest element, to reflect the
purchase and financing. Assets held under capitalised finance
leases, including prepaid land lease payments under finance
leases, are included in property, plant and equipment, and
depreciated over the shorter of the lease terms and the estimated
useful lives of the assets. The finance costs of such leases are
charged to the statement of profit or loss so as to provide a

constant periodic rate of charge over the lease terms.

Leases where substantially all the rewards and risks of ownership
of assets remain with the lessor are accounted for as operating
leases. Where the Group is the lessor, assets leased by the Group
under operating leases are included in non-current assets, and
rentals receivable under the operating leases are credited to the
statement of profit or loss on the straight-line basis over the
lease terms. Where the Group is the lessee, rentals payable under
operating leases are charged to the statement of profit or loss on
the straight-line basis over the lease terms.

Prepaid land lease payments under operating leases are initially
stated at cost and subsequently recognised on the straight-line
basis over the lease terms. When the lease payments cannot be
allocated reliably between the land and buildings elements, the
entire lease payments are included in the cost of the land and

buildings as a finance lease in property, plant and equipment.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2.4 EEEFHEHEORHEHE ()

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Investments and other financial assets
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss, loans and receivables,
and available-for-sale financial investments or as derivatives
designated as hedging instruments in an effective hedge, as
appropriate. When financial assets are recognised initially,
they are measured at fair value plus transaction costs that are
attributable to the acquisition of the financial assets, except in the
case of financial assets recorded at fair value through profit or
loss.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are
recognised on the trade date, that is, the date that the Group
commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular way purchases
or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require
delivery of assets within the period generally established by
regulation or convention in the marketplace.

Subsequent measurement loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with
fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active
market. After initial measurement, such assets are subsequently
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate
method less any allowance for impairment. Amortised cost is
calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on
acquisition and includes fees or costs that are an integral part of
the effective interest rate. The effective interest rate amortisation
is included in other income and gains in the statement of profit
or loss. The loss arising from impairment is recognised in the
statement of profit or loss in other operating expenses for loans
and receivables.

68 HONG KONG FOOD INVESTMENT HOLDINGS LIMITED | Annual Report 2016

B B I 4 ik B
VB T T

4o L S P AR O T O L O3 A 4% O F
EE B 35 A MR Z Sl 2 ~ B0k S ME WOk JH
Fewy gk th 8 e B > sidR AR R 2 B
TR Z A7 A TR o 4l B2 R 0 2 i R I 4K
O3 A6 b WO < i A AR B AR
3% oy P B st HO S B st AR 48 RY 2l 2
BRAh o

Fiv A7 2 301 i L o o e Rl R V3R 2 S (B
ALEARFEHHK N EEEZ H) AR
S F1 W A T A T g b AL
B AR B Z I HIAE SR 58 )R B R AR 5

Vi g v-& ey 1 ¢ ¢

Bk S MR JE R A T A T R E A K L
AE I HE T 5 b R A DR AT AR R - R
AR > S A AR DA MR R 3 9 8 G
A5 A L 488 £ AR AR o BRSNS IRAR S 7% 8
WS i Ry < A B v R A i B o I 4 e
WA R — A S TR Ay 2 B B o TR
REH AR Z I IR o WE
A P 22 s 4R R 25 2 1 Bk B M WOk I 2 LA
AL BA SRR o



2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial
asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is primarily
derecognised (i.e., removed from the Group’s consolidated

statement of financial position) when:

. the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired;
or

. the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows
from the asset or has assumed an obligation to pay the
received cash flows in full without material delay to a third
party under a “pass-through” arrangement; and either (a) the
Group has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards
of the asset, or (b) the Group has neither transferred nor
retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset,

but has transferred control of the asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows
from an asset or has entered into a pass-through arrangement,
it evaluates if and to what extent it has retained the risk and
rewards of ownership of the asset. When it has neither transferred
nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset
nor transferred control of the asset, the Group continues to
recognise the transferred asset to the extent of the Group’s
continuing involvement. In that case, the Group also recognises
an associated liability. The transferred asset and the associated
liability are measured on a basis that reflects the rights and

obligations that the Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over
the transferred assets is measured at the lower of the original
carrying amount of the asset and the maximum amount of the

consideration that the Group could be required to repay.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2.4 EEEFHEHEORHEHE ()

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of financial assets

The Group assesses at the end of each reporting period whether
there is objective evidence that a financial asset or a group of
financial assets is impaired. An impairment exists if one or more
events that occurred after the initial recognition of the asset have
an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset
or the group of financial assets that can be reliably estimated.
Evidence of impairment may include indications that a debtor or
a group of debtors is experiencing significant financial difficulty,
default or delinquency in interest or principal payments, the
probability that they will enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation and observable data indicating that there is a
measurable decrease in the estimated future cash flows, such as
changes in arrears or economic conditions that correlate with
defaults.

Financial assets carried at amortised cost

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the Group first
assesses whether impairment exists individually for financial
assets that are individually significant, or collectively for
financial assets that are not individually significant. If the Group
determines that no objective evidence of impairment exists for an
individually assessed financial asset, whether significant or not, it
includes the asset in a group of financial assets with similar credit
risk characteristics and collectively assesses them for impairment.
Assets that are individually assessed for impairment and for
which an impairment loss is, or continues to be, recognised are

not included in a collective assessment of impairment.

The amount of any impairment loss identified is measured as the
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present
value of estimated future cash flows (excluding future credit
losses that have not yet been incurred). The present value of the
estimated future cash flows is discounted at the financial asset’s
original effective interest rate (i.e., the effective interest rate

computed at initial recognition).
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)
Financial assets carried at amortised cost (continued)

The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the use of
an allowance account and the loss is recognised in the statement
of profit or loss. Interest income continues to be accrued on
the reduced carrying amount using the rate of interest used to
discount the future cash flows for the purpose of measuring
the impairment loss. Loans and receivables together with any
associated allowance are written off when there is no realistic
prospect of future recovery and all collateral has been realised or
has been transferred to the Group.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the estimated
impairment loss increases or decreases because of an event
occurring after the impairment was recognised, the previously
recognised impairment loss is increased or reduced by adjusting
the allowance account. If a write-off is later recovered, the

recovery is credited to the statement of profit or loss.

Assets carried at cost

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss has been
incurred on an unquoted equity instrument that is not carried at
fair value because its fair value cannot be reliably measured, the
amount of the loss is measured as the difference between the
asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future
cash flows discounted at the current market rate of return for a
similar financial asset. Impairment losses on these assets are not

reversed.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2.4 EEEFHEHEORHEHE ()

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Financial liabilities
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as
financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, loans and
borrowings, or as derivatives designated as hedging instruments
in an effective hedge, as appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and,
in the case of loans and borrowings, net of directly attributable
transaction costs. The Group’s financial liabilities include
amounts due to associates, trade and bills payables, other

payables and accruals and interest-bearing bank borrowings.

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities depends on
their classification as follows:

Loans and borrowings

After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and borrowings
are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective
interest rate method unless the effect of discounting would be
immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost. Gains and
losses are recognised in the statement of profit or loss when
the liabilities are derecognised as well as through the effective

interest rate amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount
or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are an integral
part of the effective interest rate. The effective interest rate
amortisation is included in finance costs in the statement of profit

or loss.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Derecognition of financial liabilities

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under

the liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from
the same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of
an existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange
or modification is treated as a derecognition of the original
liability and a recognition of a new liability, and the difference
between the respective carrying amounts is recognised in the

statement of profit or loss.

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net
amount is reported in the statement of financial position if there
is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognised
amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or to
realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost is determined on the first-in, first-out basis for stocks
of the trading segment and on the weighted average basis for
stocks of the retailing segment and includes all costs of purchase,
costs of conversion, and other costs incurred in bringing the
inventories to their present location and condition. Net realisable
value is based on estimated selling prices less any estimated costs
to be incurred to disposal.

Other non-current asset

Other non-current asset represents an unlisted club debenture
which is intended to be held for long term purposes, and is stated
at cost less any impairment loss. The club debenture is tested for
impairment annually either individually or at the cash-generating
unit level.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2.4 EEEFHEHEORHEHE ()

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and demand
deposits, and short term highly liquid investments that are
readily convertible into known amounts of cash, are subject to an
insignificant risk of changes in value, and have a short maturity
of generally within three months when acquired, less bank
overdrafts which are repayable on demand and form an integral

part of the Group’s cash management.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of financial
position, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and at

banks, including term deposits, which are not restricted as to use.

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax
relating to items recognised outside profit or loss is recognised
outside profit or loss, either in other comprehensive income or

directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount
expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities,
based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period, taking
into consideration interpretations and practices prevailing in the

countries in which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all
temporary differences at the end of the reporting period between
the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts
for financial reporting purposes.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Income tax (continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary

differences, except:

G when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial
recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination and, at the
time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit

nor taxable profit or loss; and

. in respect of taxable temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries and associates, when the
timing of the reversal of the temporary differences can be
controlled and it is probable that the temporary differences

will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary
differences, the carry forward of unused tax credits and any
unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent
that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against
which the deductible temporary differences, the carryforward of

unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be utilised, except:

. when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible
temporary differences arises from the initial recognition of
an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business
combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects

neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

G in respect of deductible temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries and associates, deferred tax
assets are only recognised to the extent that it is probable
that the temporary differences will reverse in the foreseeable
future and taxable profit will be available against which the

temporary differences can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is
no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available
to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be utilised.
Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at the end of
each reporting period and are recognised to the extent that it has
become probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to

allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be recovered.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2.4 EEEFHEHEORHEHE ()

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Income tax (continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates
that are expected to apply to the period when the asset is realised
or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that
have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the

reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if a
legally enforceable right exists to set off current tax assets against
current tax liabilities and the deferred taxes relate to the same

taxable entity and the same taxation authority.

Revenue recognition

Revenue is recognised when it is probable that the economic
benefits will flow to the Group and when the revenue can be

measured reliably, on the following bases:

(a) from the sale of goods, when the significant risks and
rewards of ownership have been transferred to the buyer,
provided that the Group maintains neither managerial
involvement to the degree usually associated with
ownership, nor effective control over the goods sold;

(b) interest income, on an accrual basis using the effective
interest method by applying the rate that discounts the
estimated future cash receipts over the expected life of
the financial instrument to the net carrying amount of the

financial asset;

(c) commission income, when the relevant service has been

rendered;

(d) dividend income, when the shareholders’ right to receive
payment has been established; and

(e) rental income, on a time proportion basis over the lease

terms.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Employee benefits
Pension scheme

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory Provident
Fund retirement benefit scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) under
the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for those
employees who are eligible to participate in the MPF Scheme.
Contributions are made based on a percentage of the employees’
basic salaries and are charged to the statement of profit or loss
as they become payable in accordance with the rules of the MPF
Scheme. The assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately from
those of the Group in an independently administered fund. The
Group’s employer contributions vest fully with the employees
when contributed into the MPF Scheme, except for the Group’s
employer voluntary contributions, which are refunded to the
Group when the employee leaves employment prior to the
contributions vesting fully, in accordance with the rules of the
MPF Scheme.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiary which operates in
Mainland China are required to participate in a central pension
scheme operated by the local municipal government. This
subsidiary is required to contribute 14% of its payroll costs to
the central pension scheme. The contributions are charged to the
statement of profit or loss as they become payable in accordance

with the rules of the central pension scheme.

Share-based payments

The Company operates a share option scheme for the purpose
of providing incentives and rewards to eligible participants who
contribute to the success of the Group’s operations. Employees
(including directors) of the Group receive remuneration in
the form of share-based payments, whereby employees render
services as consideration for equity instruments (“‘equity-settled

transactions”).

The cost of equity-settled transactions is measured by reference
to the fair value at the date at which they are granted. The fair
value is determined by an external valuer using a binomial model
or the Black-Scholes model.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2.4 EEEFHEHEORHEHE ()

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Employee benefits (continued)
Share-based payments (continued)

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised in employee
benefit expense, together with a corresponding increase in
equity, over the period in which the performance and/or service
conditions are fulfilled. The cumulative expense recognised for
equity-settled transactions at the end of each reporting period
until the vesting date reflects the extent to which the vesting
period has expired and the Group’s best estimate of the number
of equity instruments that will ultimately vest. The charge or
credit to the statement of profit or loss for a period represents
the movement in the cumulative expense recognised as at the

beginning and end of that period.

For awards that do not ultimately vest because non-market
performance and/or service conditions have not been met,
no expense is recognised. Where awards include a market or
non-vesting condition, the transactions are treated as vesting
irrespective of whether the market or non-vesting condition is
satisfied, provided that all other performance and/or service

conditions are satisfied.

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, as
a minimum an expense is recognised as if the terms had not
been modified, if the original terms of the award are met. In
addition, an expense is recognised for any modification that
increases the total fair value of the share-based payments, or is
otherwise beneficial to the employee as measured at the date of

modification.

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as
if it had vested on the date of cancellation, and any expense
not yet recognised for the award is recognised immediately.
This includes any award where non-vesting conditions within
the control of either the Group or the employee are not met.
However, if a new award is substituted for the cancelled award,
and is designated as a replacement award on the date that it is
granted, the cancelled and new awards are treated as if they were
a modification of the original award, as described in the previous
paragraph.

The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as
additional share dilution in the computation of earnings per share,
if any.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Foreign currencies

These financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars,
which is the Company’s functional currency. Each entity in the
Group determines its own functional currency and items included
in the financial statements of each entity are measured using
that functional currency. Foreign currency transactions recorded
by the entities in the Group are initially recorded using their
respective functional currency rates prevailing at the dates of
the transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in
foreign currencies are translated at the functional currency rates
of exchange ruling at the end of the reporting period. Differences
arising on settlement or translation of monetary items are

recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical
cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange
rates at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary items
measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated using
the exchange rates at the date when the fair value was measured.
The gain or loss arising on translation of a non-monetary item
measured at fair value is treated in line with the recognition
of the gain or loss on change in fair value of the item (i.e.,
translation difference on the item whose fair value gain or loss
is recognised in other comprehensive income or profit or loss is
also recognised in other comprehensive income or profit or loss,

respectively).

The functional currencies of an overseas subsidiary and certain
associates are currencies other than the Hong Kong dollar. As at
the end of the reporting period, the assets and liabilities of these
entities are translated into Hong Kong dollars at the exchange
rates prevailing at the end of the reporting period and their
statements of profit or loss are translated into Hong Kong dollars
at the weighted average exchange rates for the year. The resulting
exchange differences are recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated in the exchange fluctuation reserve.
On disposal of a foreign operation, the component of other
comprehensive income relating to that particular foreign

operation is recognised in the statement of profit or loss.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Foreign currencies (continued)

Any goodwill arising on the acquisition of a foreign operation
and any fair value adjustments to the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities arising on acquisition are treated as assets and
liabilities of the foreign operation and translated at the closing

rate.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, the
cash flows of an overseas subsidiary are translated into Hong
Kong dollars at the exchange rates ruling at the dates of the cash
flows. Frequently recurring cash flows of the overseas subsidiary
which arise throughout the year are translated into Hong Kong

dollars at the weighted average exchange rates for the year.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group’s financial statements requires
management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that
affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and
liabilities, and their accompanying disclosures, and the disclosure
of contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about these assumptions and
estimates could result in outcomes that could require a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of the assets or liabilities

affected in the future.

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources
of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting period, that
have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial

year, are described below.

Impairment of property, plant and equipment

The Group determines whether an asset is impaired at least on an
annual basis. This requires an estimation of the value in use of
the asset. Estimating the value in use requires the Group to make
an estimate of the expected future cash flows from the asset and
also to choose a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the
present value of those cash flows. The carrying amount of the
Group’s property, plant and equipment as at 31 March 2016 was
HK$71,915,000 (2015: HK$78,457,000).
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES
(continued)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)
Impairment of investments in associates

The Group assesses whether there are any indicators of
impairment for investments in associates at the end of each
reporting period. Investments in associates are tested for
impairment when there are indicators that the carrying amounts
may not be recoverable. An impairment exists when the carrying
value of an investment in an associate exceeds its recoverable
amount, which is the higher of its fair value less costs to sell and
its value in use. The calculation of the fair value less costs to
sell is based on available data from observable market prices less
incremental costs for disposing of the investments. When value
in use calculations are undertaken, management must estimate
the expected share of future cash flows expected to be generated
by the associates, including the cash flows from the operations
of the associates and the proceeds on the ultimate disposal of
the investments; or the future cash flows expected to arise from
dividends to be received from the investments and from its
ultimate disposal and choose a suitable discount rate in order to

calculate the present value of those cash flows.

Deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets are recognised for unused tax losses to the
extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available
against which the losses can be utilised. Significant management
judgement is required to determine the amount of deferred tax
assets that can be recognised, based upon the likely timing and
level of future taxable profits together with future tax planning
strategies. The carrying value of deferred tax assets relating
to recognised tax losses at 31 March 2016 was HK$1,988,000
(2015: HK$1,695,000). Further details are contained in note 22 to
the financial statements.
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& Bt A i e At (7))

it Z AW EE (4)
TG A ] 2

ZA R [0 7% M1 o5 0 R Al A W 4 ) 2 4R
B A7 AT AT PR AR o H B R 1 A 7T
W T 35 G R > A B A ] 2 B AR R
ARG o A7 T 2 A ) 2 43 S 1 e T 7 208 L
Y I T B A A AR B L
BE AR E) o AR FERAE o 27 (E 3 &
BAC TSR B AT I GE I T 35 AEAR TAS B SR
H B A A A B o 2 AT 0 P AR
sl S o A5 B b 2 RE A TEYT 3 A 20 B BB A
WA LR R B i i > RS A F R KRR
P 45 B0 <5 47 42 J do A B LB T A0 5
Bk A %I AR B e A B O B B B
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AR SRR BUE -

AT Bl B

TEART T BB A 44 1y M R v ) 20 K 11 7% s
B0 FRBE PO o MR ) D 4 B 75 s 4R e R AR
BLIEE o a7 B4 P11 tH 3 R B ok A 5t
R 2H JE SR Vo P 3 2k B IR R A &% > A A R 2R
o0 7 0 ) SRR > DL o R T R R A B
&M e BREZFR-AE=ZHA=1—H ®E
T R 0 L e 4L R B Y 2R S B T IR v L
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3. EEeEAE A (F)

JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES
(continued)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)
Impairment of trade receivables

The Group conducts impairment reviews of financial assets
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that their
carrying amounts may not be recoverable in accordance with
the relevant accounting standards. Determining whether an asset
is impaired requires an estimation of the future cash flows and
a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present value.
Where the actual future cash flows are less than expected,
the Group would be required to revise the basis of making
the allowance and its future results would be affected. As at
31 March 2016, the carrying amount of trade receivables, net of
impairment losses, was HK$20,434,000 (2015: HK$22,790,000).

Provision for inventories

Management reviews an ageing analysis of the Group’s
inventories at the end of each reporting period, and makes
provision for obsolete items when events or change in
circumstances show that the balance of inventories may not be
realisable or are no longer suitable for sale. The Group carries
out an inventory review at the end of each reporting period
and makes provision for obsolete items. The carrying value
of inventories at 31 March 2016 was HK$32,640,000 (2015:
HK$46,470,000). Further details of which are included in note 15

to the financial statements.
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4. OPERATING SEGMENT

INFORMATION

For management purposes, the Group is organised into business
units based on their products and services and has two reportable
operating segments for the year ended 31 March 2016 as follows:

(a) the trading segment is engaged in the trading of frozen

meats, seafood and vegetables in Hong Kong; and

(b) the retailing segment is engaged in the retailing of consumer

goods in Mainland China.

Management monitors the results of the Group’s operating
segments separately for the purpose of making decisions
about resources allocation and performance assessment.
Segment performance is evaluated based on reportable segment
profit/loss, which is a measure of adjusted profit/loss before tax.
The adjusted profit/loss before tax is measured consistently with
the Group’s profit/loss before tax except that interest income,
finance costs, share of profits and losses of associates and
corporate and other unallocated expenses are excluded from such

measurement.

Segment assets exclude investments in associates, certain items
of property, plant and equipment and other corporate unallocated

assets as these assets are managed on a group basis.

Segment liabilities exclude deferred tax liabilities and other
corporate unallocated liabilities as these liabilities are managed

on a group basis.
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4. OPERATING SEGMENT
INFORMATION (continued)

4. BEIWER (B)

Trading Retailing Total
5 24 a5k
2016 2015 2016 2015 2016 2015
TR N R SR -NE R4 DR NE R
HKS$’000 HK3$’000 HK$°000 HK$’000 HKS$’000 HK$’000
T BT T BT BT T T 0 BT T
Segment revenue 2 WA 146,043 180,056 34,333 36,781 180,376 216,837
Segment results 4 2 A (10,701) (2,457) (9,031) (8,356) (19,732) (10,813)
Reconciliation: B -
Interest income B U A 51 35
Finance costs L2 g (3,089) (3,323)
Share of profits and R A T 7 2 ]
losses of associates Vi A K% s 18 13,742 41,898
Corporate and other 28 ] B HoAth
unallocated expenses A< 43 i b % (6,801) (6,439)
Profit/(loss) before tax BB AT % Al
(& 18) (15,829) 21,358
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4. OPERATING SEGMENT
INFORMATION (continued)

Notes to Financial Statements
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31 March 2016 Z2—X"E=ZA=+—H

4. BB IER (B)

Trading Retailing Total
1] Z8 Mt
2016 2015 2016 2015 2016 2015
RN R LFE RN FLH DR -NE F L
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$°000
BYTL HWFTT EBWTI EWFTT BWFTI W W oo
Segment assets Vil - 4 151,126 174,191 28,266 35,794 179,392 209,985
Reconciliation: B -
Elimination of AT 0 JRE WAk T
intersegment i1
receivables (66,948) (63,660)
Investments in AW A )
associates ZHE 424,005 433,709
Corporate and other 28 ) B Al
unallocated assets R4 L& B 52,825 55,147
Total assets BB 589,274 635,181
Segment liabilities 438 £ 163,950 180,876 72,483 69,044 236,433 249,920
Reconciliation: HHR -
Elimination of A T8 JE A sk T
intersegment i
payables (66,948) (63,660)
Corporate and other 28 ) J oAl
unallocated liabilities 743 Bt £ & 4,657 4,861
Total liabilities R AE 174,142 191,121
Other segment H At 3 7
information: ¥k :
Capital expenditure* ¥ ASPH 3 * 169 389 544 552 713 941
Depreciation e 725 705 4,037 4,113 4,762 4,818
Unallocated R4 L B 8
depreciation 1,984 1,985
6,746 6,803
o Capital expenditure consists of additions to property, plant and * EARMA X BREREWE - BB ki o
equipment.
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4. OPERATING SEGMENT
INFORMATION (continued)

Geographical information

(a) Revenue from external customers

4. BB IER (B)

i 8 R
(a) WMARAIREF

2016 2015
TR N R Sl T S

HK$’000 HK$°000

BT o BT T

Hong Kong s 146,043 180,056
Mainland China TN 34,333 36,781
180,376 216,837

The revenue information above is based on the locations of

the customers.

(b) Non-current assets

e e N R TS MR B BT AE I S i iR

4y o

(b) FEFWBIE &

2016 2015
TR N S

HK$°000 HK$’000

T T T

Hong Kong i 62,048 64,596
Mainland China e g ok e 11,973 16,317
74,021 80,913

The non-current assets information above is based on
the locations of the assets and excludes investments in

associates.
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5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND 5. WA ~ oAb BB gk
GAINS

Revenue represents the net invoiced value of goods sold, after

WA ZBE RS IR E L& RS
BfE - WA > Hf A Rk 2 AT E

allowances for returns and trade discounts. An analysis of

revenue, other income and gains is as follows:

2016 2015
RN e S 2
HK$’000 HK$’000
T T TE
Revenue BCA 180,376 216,837
Other income oAb B A
Bank interest income RATH BB A 51 35
Claims received A8 WA 36 6
Commission income 4 A 506 -
Gross rental income LW A 751 701
Sundry income METE WA 2 9
1,346 751
Gains B 22
Foreign exchange differences, net [ 58 75 B > A 171 449
Gain on disposal of items of HEME - WE AKX HHEE
property, plant and equipment Z Wik - 5,376
171 5,825
1,517 6,576
6. FINANCE COSTS 6. Bl A
An analysis of finance costs is as follows: B AR Z S HTI T
2016 2015
TR N O Sk 2
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT o T
Interest on bank and trust SRAT Bk B A5 we iR B A 8
receipt loans 3,089 3,323
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Bt #5825 B AE

31 March 2016 —ZZ2—X<E=ZA=+—H

7. PROFIT/(LOSS) BEFORE TAX 7. BBimigE A, O#)

The Group’s profit/(loss) before tax is arrived at after charging/ AREFEZBHFAEN - (5HR) ek Gt

(crediting): A) :

2016 2015

RN “E R

Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
Kt it W T T BT T

Cost of inventories sold CEFEZ A 160,574 194,950

Depreciation e 12 6,746 6,303

Minimum lease payments under BB E N Z HAR

operating leases FEM4E 9,006 9,220

Contingent rents under WEMENZHRME

operating leases 2,140 2,089
11,146 11,309
Auditors’ remuneration % B Bl T 4 1,000 975
Employee benefit expense 1@ B 4 A BH 32
(including directors’ (5 E W& (K 7Es)) -
remuneration (note 8)):
Wages, salaries, allowances T&E - #Hi4 > dih
and benefits in kind Lo B4 1 A 18,665 18,167
Pension scheme contributions R AR A T H) 2Z ftaR 1,909 1,890
20,574 20,057

Foreign exchange differences, net [ 56,75 5 > W 171) (449)

Net rental income FH 43 WA F 3 (524) (524)

Reversal of impairment losses I 435 ik B e B 5% B sk

on trade receivables” 16 - (846)

Loss/(gain) on disposal of items of HEME -~ WE Kk

property, plant and equipment? HHEZER (M) # 8 (5,376)

A The reversal of impairment losses on trade receivables is included A T 58 VAR AL R AL B 2 MRk L B R TR AR S R AR AR [T
in “Administrative expenses” in the consolidated statement of profit WX A -
or loss.

# The loss on disposal of items of property, plant and equipment is # HEWE - MG R HEE ZEHECBRHR A
included in “Administrative expenses” in the consolidated statement BHBRMTBH LN o REFE > HEWE -
of profit or loss. In the prior year, the gain on disposal of items of W B s TE H 2 W ai R AR S AR [
property, plant and equipment was included in “Other income and e A B g 1A ©

gains” in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.
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8. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

Directors’ remuneration for the year, disclosed pursuant to
the Listing Rules, section 383(1)(a) and (b) of the Hong Kong

Notes to Financial Statements
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31 March 2016 —ZE—X<"F=A=+—H

o 5 4

ERER AL LW AR FWE ARG E
383(1)(a) S (b I 2 ] (Bl % 36 =5 A1) 25 & RE) Bl

Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the Companies (Disclosure SR 257 B AR T R
of Information about Benefits of Directors) Regulation, is as
follows:
2016 2015
- A S s (K5
HK$°000 HK$°000
T T BT o
Fees i 480 530
Other emoluments: oAt T 4 -
Salaries, allowances and s B RED
benefits in kind Fl 25 4,110 4,370
Pension scheme contributions RN o Pl 130 158
4,240 4,528
4,720 5,058

(a) TonJkPuAT R
FNOHRTHELIEATERZBEWT ¢

(a) Independent non-executive directors

The fees paid to independent non-executive directors during

the year were as follows:

2016 2015

RN ZR—hAE

HKS$’000 HK$°000

BT Ve

CHAN Kay Cheung BRAL B 60 60
LAN Yee Fong, Steve John [ 60 60
LUI Shing Ming, Brian 0] 60 60
180 180

A DY 3 22 Lt T < B A T R SR LT R
(ZF T4 ) -

There were no other emoluments payable to the independent

non-executive directors during the year (2015: Nil).
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31 March 2016 —ZZ—XE=A=+—H

8. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION 8. WML (H)
(continued)
(b) Executive directors (b) BT
Salaries,
allowances Pension
and benefits scheme Total
Fees in kind contributions remuneration
Wi 4 > HWh i N g |
4 BB A Z sk S Tl B4 51
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T T T T T T
2016 RN
Executive directors: HITES :
TAI Tak Fung, Stephen HE 120 2,880 = 3,000
MAN Wing Cheung, Ellis K 60 1,230 124 1,414
TAI Chun Kit E i 60 = 3 63
TSE Siu Wan A E 60 = 3 63
300 4,110 130 4,540
2015 —ER A
Executive directors: HATES
TAI Tak Fung, Stephen E Ry 120 2,880 = 3,000
MAN Wing Cheung, Ellis K A 60 1,230 124 1,414
TAI Chun Kit A 60 = 3 63
YIP Wai Keung BT 25 = 1 26
TSE Siu Wan A E 60 = 3 63
LAI Yuk Chuen BER 25 260 27 312
350 4,370 158 4,878

There was no arrangement under which a director waived

or agreed to waive any remuneration during the year (2015:

Nil).
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9.

10.

FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES

The five highest paid employees during the year included two
directors (2015: two directors), details of whose remuneration
are set out in note 8 above. Details of the remuneration of
the remaining three (2015: three) non-director, highest paid

employees for the year are as follows:

Notes to Fi

nancial Statements
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31 March 2016 —ZE—X<"F=A=+—H

9. Ao 5 1 e v M

SR> AL B
— A WAL

EERAFERHAES (CF
F) o EEEF B AR

ESCHRRES o A B R =4 (2% — AR
=A0) R R A R B < B RERE T

2016 2015
RN ZR L
HK$’000 HK$’000
T o0 W

Salaries, allowances and benefits 4 > S REY R 3%
in kind 1,972 1,934
Pension scheme contributions JER Y N P ¢ 144 143
2,116 2,077

The number of non-director, highest paid employees whose
remuneration fell within the following band is as follows:

JE 2 Lo I de e R PN S AE R S AL 2 B

H :

Number of employees

B A
2016 2015
SR AN ZE N
Nil to HK$1,000,000 £ % 1,000,00035 ¢ 3 3
INCOME TAX 10. 9 13- 8¢

No provision for Hong Kong profits tax has been made as the
Group did not generate any assessable profits arising in Hong
Kong during the year (2015: Nil). No provision for Mainland
China corporate income tax has been made as the Group did not

generate any assessable profits in Mainland China during the year

A A 42 L e A
Z MERRABL A >

A JRE A Sl A U I A O A
PRI Ik S 46 0 75 98 ) A AT ) 8%

i (ZF—TAE : JE) o HRAREEIR ARG N

S S8 A i 5 o

I o e 2k 2 M R B A >

U 3 48 A v B O e A 3 T A AR B (=%

(2015: Nil). — LA ) o
2016 2015
e “F Tk
HK$°000 HK$’000
BT b
Deferred tax (note 22) and total WERERLIE (M #t22) B AN AR JE
tax credit for the year Z AL IE AL A (280) (211)
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10. INCOME TAX (continued)

A reconciliation of the tax expense applicable to profit/(loss)
before tax at the statutory rate for the country/jurisdiction
in which the Company and the majority of its subsidiaries
are domiciled to the tax credit at the effective tax rate, and a
reconciliation of the applicable rate (i.e., the statutory tax rate) to

the effective tax rate, are as follows:

10. i #4388 (4)

HARAAR N T R I EZME A A FRERR
) I W I 9 8 B AR  EL R R B B R
WA, (51 Z BLIE 2 i R VB BB R R 2
B JE 1K e S R > DL R 00 I B R (B Bl ) B
BB RZBIRMT ¢

11

2016 2015
RN R HAE
HKS$’000 % HK$’ 000 %
BT B o
Profit/(loss) before tax BRBLETE A 1R (15,829) 21,358
Tax at applicable tax rates 90 B ARG
Z BLIH (3,184) 20.1 2,987 14.0
Profits and losses attributable L /N ) |
to associates B e 1 (2,267) 14.3 (6,913) (32.4)
Income not subject to tax W JE R B Z WA - - (864) (4.0
Expenses not deductible for tax AN RJ AR A T U
Z X 648 (4.1 686 3.2
Tax losses not recognised AR e R 2 Fd I s 18 4,523 (28.5) 3,893 18.2
Tax credit at the Group’s FRAC R [ BB R
effective rate k5 2 B (280) 1.8 (211) (1.0)

The share of tax attributable to associates amounting to
HK$6,406,000 (2015: HK$14,107,000) is included in “Share of
profits and losses of associates” in the consolidated statement of

profit or loss.

EARNINGS/(LOSS) PER SHARE
ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY
EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE COMPANY

The calculation of the basic loss (2015: earnings) per share
amount is based on the loss for the year attributable to ordinary
equity holders of the Company of HK$15,549,000 (2015:
profit for the year attributable to ordinary equity holders of the
Company of HK$21,569,000), and on the 259,586,000 (2015:
259,586,000) ordinary shares in issue during the year.

No adjustment has been made to the basic loss and earnings per
share amounts presented for the years ended 31 March 2016 and
2015 in respect of a dilution as the Group had no potentially

dilutive ordinary shares in issue during those years.
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12. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 12. 3 ~ W B bt i
Leasehold
improve-
Land ments,
and furniture Motor Computer Office
buildings and fixtures vehicles systems equipment Total
LNy S
®E- KR
AR VT S5 RER T ERARE  WAZRMH At
HEK$’000 HK$’000 HEK$’000 HK$’000 HEK$’000 HKS$000
#W T BT BT #W T BT #W T
31 March 2016 it SV =V =8 aul !
At 31 March 2015 and RZZF—-HE=ZH=+—H
at 1 April 2015: R=Z—H%ENA—H:
Cost FRA 95,037 23,713 6,561 4,291 2,240 131,842
Accumulated depreciation Rt E R
and impairment (32,939) (10,635) (4,611) (3,738) (1,462) (53,385)
Net carrying amount R T 0 62,098 13,078 1,950 553 718 78,457
At 1 April 2015, net of REF—RENA—H
accumulated depreciation TR R R fe
and impairment 62,098 13,078 1,950 553 778 78,457
Additions wE - 47 - 73 163 713
Depreciation provided ERCBEZE
during the year (2,045) (3,502) (626) (229) (344) (6,746)
Disposals e = ) = = = )
Exchange realignment I 54,3 4% - (458) (17) 17 9) (501)
At 31 March 2016, net of RZF-AE=ZH=1+—H>
accumulated depreciation T BR 24T R
and impairment 60,053 9,587 1,307 380 588 71,915
At 31 March 2016: REF-AEZA=F-R:
Cost A 95,037 23,391 6,531 4,323 2,374 131,656
Accumulated depreciation PEHE YT
and impairment (34,984) (13,804) (5,224) (3,943) (1,786) (59,741)
Net carrying amount i T 60,053 9,587 1,307 380 588 71,915
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12. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

12. Y93 ~ BB B Ml (49)

(continued)
Leasehold
improve-
Land ments,
and furniture Motor Computer Office
buildings  and fixtures vehicles systems equipment Total
HERT
%6~ 51,
TR RET &34 i WAL MAZRMH Mt
HK$000 HK$°000 HK$000 HK$’000 HK$°000 HKS$’000
#HTr  #NTT  #WTT BWFTr BRFTr #EWTx
31 March 2015 “R-REZAZTH
At 1 April 2014: REF—MENH—H
Cost A 98,606 23,161 6,559 4241 1,850 134,417
Accumulated depreciation Rh 8 R g
and impairment (31,833) (7,131) (3,981) (3,434) (1,144) (47,523)
Net carrying amount I T A 66,773 16,030 2,578 807 706 86,894
At 1 April 2014, net of REF—MWENH—H »
accumulated depreciation CLf0 bR B A 3T R e
and impairment 66,773 16,030 2,578 807 706 86,894
Additions wE - 504 - 48 389 941
Depreciation provided ENTBEZE
during the year (2,051) (3,499) (630) (304) (319) (6,803)
Disposals & (2,624) - - - = (2,624)
Exchange realignment T i, i 4% - 43 2 2 2 49
At 31 March 2015, net of R-F-HE=H=1+—H>
accumulated depreciation 40 B B2t 7 2 e i
and impairment 62,098 13,078 1,950 553 778 78,457
At 31 March 2015 REZ—-HFE=ZA=+—H:
Cost A 95,037 23,713 6,561 4291 2,240 131,842
Accumulated depreciation R R
and impairment (32,939) (10,635) (4,611) (3,738) (1,462) (53,385)
Net carrying amount R T A 62,098 13,078 1,950 553 778 78,457
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31 March 2016 —ZE—X<"F=A=+—H

13. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES 13. BB A F B
2016 2015
RN ZEF D4R
HK$’000 HK$°000
T T T T
Share of net assets JRE A 410,120 419,824
Goodwill on acquisition WA E A 2 TR 13,885 13,885
424,005 433,709
Goodwill ﬁ%

The movement in goodwill on acquisition is as follows: PRI W b 2 A 2 P R A )
2016 2015
- 2 - S K2
HK$’000 HK$°000
T T BT o
At beginning of year A 13,885 12,364
Upon deemed acquisition T AP AR A WAL B TR - 1,521
13,885 13,885

The amounts due from/to associates included in the Group’s
current assets and liabilities are unsecured, interest-free and

repayable under normal trading terms.

A G2 1 i B S B M A T
RIS HEART - S0 Rk — MR B 5 kAR -
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31 March 2016 —ZZ2—X<E=ZA=+—H

13. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES

13. 7 16k 8 A vl L B ¥ (41)

(continued)
Particulars of the material associates are as follows: % EEBEE AR GFHNT ¢
Percentage
Place of of ownership
Particulars incorporation/ interest
of issued registration attributable Principal
Name shares held and business to the Group activities
£ SRR Ry R e T 7 4 1 M A
#1 JBe By 2 ¥ A B 888 Hb s L E-¥ipidia T RRH
Four Seas Mercantile Holdings Ordinary shares Cayman Islands 29.98 Investment
Limited 3 BH = B 5 holding
VY P 45 B A BR 4 FD BB
Fancy Talent Limited* Ordinary shares Hong Kong 29.98 Marketing of
ZREWEA R A A I i snack foods
ANEE 2 B A
Fancy Talent Ecommerce Ordinary shares Hong Kong 29.98 Ecommerce retailing
Company Limited* W B of confectionery and
REYWEEFHBEARA R food products
BR KB MZ
HrHHEEYE
Four Seas Mercantile Limited (i) Ordinary shares Hong Kong 29.98 Trading in
VO & 5 A BRA (ii) Non-voting H snack foods,
deferred shares confectionery
(1) 48 B and beverages
(i) 48 45 5% M AR 78 J oy INEE S BER K
iz H 5
Four Seas Foods (Shantou) Paid-up capital PRC/ 29.98 Trading in
Co., Ltd.* of HK$96,000,000 Mainland China confectionery
PO f 5 (AL BR) A R A F] O 42 AR L PPN and food products
96,000,000 & BER KB MZ S
Four Seas (Suzhou) Food Paid-up capital PRC/ 29.98 Manufacturing
Co., Ltd.* of US$18,700,000 Mainland China of beverages
PUIH (BRI ) £ AR A A (2015: o R Ok B A ih B
US$16,500,000)
O 42 Jie A
18,700,000 75
(ZF— 04 :
16,500,000 JC )
Guang Dong Fourseas Frozen Paid-up capital PRC/ 29.98 Trading in
Food Products Co., Ltd.* of RMB71,300,000 Mainland China frozen food
JE B IO 9 & R R A R A ] (2015: g o g ok B products and
RMB55,300,000) snack foods
O 4R i A @ oA &
A R #71,300,00078 INEZH G
(=204

A R#55,300,00078)
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31 March 2016 —ZE—X<"F=A=+—H

13. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES
(continued)

13. 7 16k 8 A vl L B ¥ (41)

#EEBEAFGFENT ¢ ()

Particulars of the material associates are as follows: (continued)

Percentage
Place of of ownership
Particulars incorporation/ interest
of issued registration attributable Principal
Name shares held and business to the Group activities
A O CR ) WA : 5 7 4 1 M A
% i JBe Ay Z W Be 58 88 b i L E-Y:pig EX =37
Hong Kong Biscuit Ordinary shares Hong Kong 29.79 Investment
(International) Limited* 58 5 holding
A HFEL (BB ) A7 FR A W)+ BH B
Hong Kong Ham Holdings Ordinary shares Hong Kong 29.98 Manufacturing
Limited o B ER and packaging
T v BB g o IR A PR 8 ) of ham and
ham-related
products
B Te 0% KR K
A7 B K T8 E i
J.P. Inglis Company Limited Ordinary shares Hong Kong 29.98 Trading in
BeR AT A RA T W58 & food materials
B R 5
Kung Tak Lam Shanghai Ordinary shares Hong Kong 29.69 Restaurant
Vegetarian Cuisine Limited 9 B ERTid operations
PR LR R ARAH RERE
Li Fook (Qingdao) Foods Paid-up capital PRC/ 29.98 Manufacturing
Co., Ltd.* of US$4,620,000 Mainland China of noodles
s () & A RA (2015: o, e Ok fil %
US$3,970,000)
C AR B A
4,620,000 7C
F T
3,970,000 JT)
Murray Catering Company Limited* Ordinary shares Hong Kong 20.99 Provision of
AR Fr IR A PR A W]+ 3 T s lunch box and
tuck shop services
PO R
AN EEY

—B-XEEH |
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31 March 2016 —ZZ2—X<E=ZA=+—H

13. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES
(continued)

Particulars of the material associates are as follows: (continued)

13. 7 16k 8 A vl L B ¥ (41)

#EEBEAFGFENT ¢ ()

Percentage
Place of of ownership
Particulars incorporation/ interest
of issued registration attributable Principal
Name shares held and business to the Group activities
Ao #f CR ) WA : 5 7 4 1 M A
% i JBe Ay Z W Be 58 88 b i L E-Y:pig EX =37
New Kondo Trading Company Ordinary shares Hong Kong 29.98 Trading in
Limited i B EiRid Japanese food
ERE GARAT materials
H A £ i 5B 5
Restaurant Shiki Limited Ordinary shares Hong Kong 29.98 Restaurant
W 58 B B operations
RERE
TR 5 A R A ] Paid-up capital PRC/ 29.98 Trading in
of RMB500,000 Mainland China confectionery
G5 §9 &N L PN and food
A B #¥500,0007C products
BREERZH S
Four Seas (Guangzhou) Food Paid-up capital PRC/ 29.98 Trading in
Import and Export Trading of RMB15,000,000 Mainland China confectionery
Company Limited* O 42 AR g vk B and food
P FE M) & it T A R #15,000,00070 products
¥ 5 A B v+ BEREEMZ S
TRESE Y I P R A B2 ]+ Paid-up capital PRC/ 29.98 Manufacturing
of HK$37,000,000 Mainland China and packaging
B8 §9) &N LA PN of ham and
37,000,000 7T ham-related
products
B Te A2 R K
A7 B K T R
B 0 T VR KA PR A Paid-up capital PRC/ 29.69 Restaurant
of RMB73,959,210 Mainland China operations
AR B A Sl il PN REPERE

A R73,959,2107C

& Not audited by Ernst & Young, Hong Kong or another member firm

of the Ernst & Young global network

%
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31 March 2016 —ZE—X<"F=A=+—H

13. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES 13. R B A2 8% (8)

(continued)

The above table lists the associates of the Group which, in the
opinion of the directors, principally affected the results for the
year or formed a substantial portion of the net assets of the
Group. To give details of other associated would, in the opinion
of the directors, result in particulars of excessive length. All

associates were indirectly held by the Company.

Four Seas Mercantile Holdings Limited, which is considered
a material associate of the Group, is a strategic partner of the
Group engaged in investment holding and is accounted for using

the equity method.

The following table illustrates the summarised financial

information of Four Seas Mercantile Holdings Limited adjusted

EREIEFR T AL

A JRE SR A SR I

7 B ER A Z I A W] o B SRR A S
A Yo 85 2> ] 7 0 0 W A O o BT A IR A

Al A A B R -

A A 4 I 2 TR I A A ) I N AR A PR A
) E B B Ty AR [ DARE 2R vk AR Z SR

Wt AR o

A 25 O AR AR A ] B R
(REATA € 5HBOR 22 R %) R Ar & 1 0 ik

for any differences in accounting policies and reconciled to the 7 A IR i 2 R -
carrying amount in the consolidated financial statements:
2016 2015
e %A
HK$’000 HK$’000
T T BHT T
Current assets ) E 1,899,833 1,862,643
Non-current assets Jem B = 979,965 972,687
Current liabilities B £ AR (1,358,075) (1,308,723)
Non-current financial liabilities, ERBI A E > A EFEEMN Y SRR
excluding trade and other T At A ok T e 4 A
payables and provision (105,205) (80,551)
Non-current liabilities FEWE H R (20,107) (20,712)
Net assets HEFE 1,396,411 1,425,344
Less: Net assets attributable to Vs I T RE 25 R AL 2 A
non-controlling interest (29,354) (25,930)
Net assets attributable to equity Wik 8 A W R 25 A A B Al 2
holders of the associate BT 1,367,057 1,399,414
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13. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES

13. 7 16k 8 A vl L B ¥ (41)

(continued)
2016 2015
A R R
HK$’000 HK$°000
T T T T

Reconciliation to the Group’s B A 45 [ W s ) 2 M A R

interest in the associate:
Proportion of the Group’ s A 55 [ AR LL A

ownership 29.9% 29.9%
Group’ s share of net assets of A T AN T 8 8 W) K R

the associate, excluding goodwill 7 A3 35 v 2 410,120 419,824
Goodwill on acquisition WAL B TR 2 T A (i R U A

(less cumulative impairment) 13,885 13,885
Carrying amount of the investment ®E ZRHAE 424,005 433,709
Revenues LN 2,941,468 2,907,497
Profit for the year 4 JEE ¥ A 45,215 137,349
Other comprehensive loss BEN R qTTY (42,647) (16,606)
Total comprehensive income A Ji 4 T WA A

for the year 2,568 120,743
Dividend received o B 10,947 10,371
Fair value of the Group’ s investment A< % [H % % Z /A A 297,288 444,780

14. OTHER NON-CURRENT ASSET 14. ¢ Aib I Gt h % s

The club debenture represents an entrance fee paid for the use of H AR E R TR N 2 A& > I

LARB AR -

club facilities and is held on a long term basis.
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31 March 2016 —ZE—X<"F=A=+—H

15. INVENTORIES 15. 4+ ¢
2016 2015
RN SR hA
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT BT
Finished goods 2 B 32,640 46,470

16. TRADE RECEIVABLES 16. ME W B 5 W 5k

2016 2015

RN —F I

HK$’000 HK$°000

T T BT

Trade receivables HE W B 5 ik ik 20,434 22,790
The Group’s trading terms with its customers are mainly on AEMBEE P 2GR DGR T %
credit, except for new customers, where payment in advance is PR FEFELMNR - FEH B —FE =M
normally required. The credit period is generally one to three H o %P E R ER o AL ) Kk
months. Each customer has a maximum credit limit. The Group G Jri ) 9 oA WO =2 I WAk T o R I A R
seeks to maintain strict control over its outstanding receivables B o 22 0 I o R AR S PR 6 o SR a0 A
to minimise credit risk. Overdue balances are reviewed regularly i o B bk R > DL R A A B 2 E W R 5 R
by senior management. In view of the aforementioned and the KELR 2 Zon b % P AR - B I R AE
fact that the Group’s trade receivables relate to a large number B AR R B o A R N I K A A R R A A A
of diversified customers, there is no significant concentration HEAP B S A BRI o I B IR TS S

of credit risk. The Group does not hold any collateral or other B e
credit enhancements over these balances. Trade receivables are
non-interest-bearing.
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31 March 2016 —ZZ2—X<E=ZA=+—H

16. TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued) 16. & W B 5 k% (41)
An aged analysis of the trade receivables as at the end of the R HIR - MRS B R R IR A 2
reporting period, based on the invoice date and net of impairment W G IR RE S

provisions, is as follows:

2016 2015
RN ZR LA
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T BT
Within 1 month HE A W 9,687 13,200
1 to 2 months 1221 H 4,397 7,062
Over 2 months 2fE H YA E 6,350 2,528
20,434 22,790
The movements in the provision for impairment of trade TEWE GEFRZ AR 22 ERNT
receivables are as follows:
HK$°000
o
At 1 April 2014 W —WFENHA—H 3,054
Amount written off as uncollectible i £ 4 v Wt 5] 3k %A (2,208)
Impairment losses reversed (note 7)  [B1 98 W AE &5 18 (M 7£7) (846)
At 31 March 2015, 1 April 2015 W_F—HE=H=1+—H -
and 31 March 2016 “E-HENH—HR

—B-AEZHE+—H -
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Bt 7% 3% & B &
31 March 2016 ZE—X<E=A=+—H
16. TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued) 16. ME W B 55 Wk (748)

The aged analysis of the trade receivables that are not considered A RIIEZ R E G IR Z IR AT T «
to be impaired is as follows:

2016 2015

RN ZEF DA

HK$’000 HK$°000

W T BT T

Neither past due nor impaired 7 0 4 4 i A 15,250 20,257

Less than 1 month past due 76 1 A 18 H 1,566 2,295

1 to 2 months past due 6 1 2241 A 3,618 238

20,434 22,790

Receivables that were neither past due nor impaired relate to a N 0 78 0 U A < R Ak T D T e i 4
large number of diversified customers for whom there was no B KRBEAFRZF -

recent history of default.

Receivables that were past due but not impaired relate to a T 28 191 AL N oA D 2 B W B 5 sk JEL O B AR B 1

number of independent customers that have a good track record HTEBGUEBRIFZRET o MR E LR » &

with the Group. Based on past experience, the directors of the AR ERR R > HRZEERZERE R K

Company are of the opinion that no provision for impairment HORAEE) > 5% 5 A5 IR0 R A W] A el > il
is necessary in respect of these balances as there has not been I ZEAE M A A R o

a significant change in credit quality and the balances are still

considered fully recoverable.

—E-AEFH | BEARREERARAT 103



Notes to Financial Statements

Bt #5825 B AE

31 March 2016 —ZZ2—X<E=ZA=+—H

17. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND

18

OTHER RECEIVABLES

17. BUAF K ~ W < B 30 fib M ek

2016 2015
VA% U S K2
HK$’000 HKS$’000
T W T o
Prepayments TH A K JH 752 1,323
Deposits and other receivables HEVE XN L& e 2,394 2,472
3,146 3,795

Less: Portion classified as = 43 8 R I U B AR A
non-current (1,566) (1,916)
1,580 1,879

None of the above assets is either past due or impaired. The
financial assets included in the above balances relate to

receivables for which there was no recent history of default.

CASH AND BANK BALANCES

At the end of the reporting period, the cash and bank balances
of the Group denominated in Renminbi (“RMB”) amounted
to HK$4,551,000 (2015: HK$7,051,000). The RMB is not
freely convertible into other currencies, however, under
Mainland China’s Foreign Exchange Control Regulations and
Administration of Settlement, Sale and Payment of Foreign
Exchange Regulations, the Group is permitted to exchange RMB
for other currencies through banks authorised to conduct foreign

exchange business.

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank
deposit rates. Short term time deposits are made for varying
periods of between one day and fourteen days depending on the
immediate cash requirements of the Group, and earn interest at
the respective short term time deposit rates. The bank balances
are deposited with creditworthy banks with no recent history of
default.
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St S S T A o bt A B 4 4
A T 40 0 9 9 A0 T 8k 2 ME WO O

18. Bl & R B AT &5 17

R EREBIAR > AL E IR (AR 5IE
Z B4 K BRAT K5 A7 554,551,000 00 (ZF — 1
42 :7,051,000%58) ° AR A Il
s > AR B8 v K e A T A LA 81 o 45 BE
B W I Ao A5 IR S8 » AR A8 ) 6 v 78 0 52 )
HEAT AP BE B4 6 2 SRAT N RIS S 40 At
B

AT BLE A H SRAT A7 KM R DL B A 5 B
B o FHEBAERTIENF-HETNHZ
A R 1 AR o 0P A 4R T B B B G 5K
3 3% 845 B 2 30T S 00 Ak ) R R EOR B, o R
AT REAF T3 AR I A 91 Sl 8 7 Ay wd ko R A R AF S
BZHRIT o



19.

20.

Notes to Financial Statements

Bt %5 ¥R 5 Y A

31 March 2016 —ZE—X<"F=A=+—H

TRADE AND BILLS PAYABLES 19. MEA B 5 e ak B 5 9%

An aged analysis of the trade and bills payables as at the end of RECEHR - MRBEE AN ZEMNE SRR &
the reporting period, based on the invoice date, is as follows: SRZIRB AT

2016 2015
e L e
HK$’000 HK$’000
T T BT o
Within 1 month RPN 9,566 10,689
1 to 2 months 13211 H 3,989 3,524
13,555 14,213

The trade payables are non-interest-bearing and are normally
settled on terms of 30 to 60 days.

JE A 52 5 Mk ok 2 4 18 B — BB 3530 560 H 1T R &%

fit o

OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS 20. J il HE A 5k B B it £ 4%
2016 2015
RN SRR
HKS$’000 HK$’000
T o W o
Other payables Al JRE A 35 T 7,844 7,773
Accruals HEFH 3,364 3,319
11,208 11,092

Less: Portion classified as W2 4 A FE R B Ay

non-current (2,932) (2,769)
8,276 8,323

Other payables are non-interest-bearing and have an average term

of three months.

KA ENKEHTIRE » BRAFE R =MA -

—E-AEFH | BEARREZERARAD 105



Notes to Financial Statements

Bt #5825 B AE

31 March 2016 —ZZ2—X<E=ZA=+—H

21. INTEREST-BEARING BANK

21. AT R B Z 84T B

BORROWINGS
2016 2015
ZE N ZE A
Effective Effective
interest interest
rate  Maturity HK$’000 rate Maturity HK$’000
Y ES WA BT EBANX W H BT T
Current g ]
Short term loan I G 3 2.05% Within 125,000 2.19% Within 115,000
— unsecured Bk 12 months 12 months
or on or on
demand demand
REHAN 1218 H A
AR ER BRAR R
Trust receipt loans SR 5 e W 2.07% Within 22,985 1.96% Within 49,229
— unsecured B 12 months 12 months
12A N 12/ A W
147,985 164,229

All short term loan and trust receipt loans are denominated in

Hong Kong dollar and bear interest at floating interest rates.

Ignoring the effect of any standard repayment on demand clause

and based on the maturity terms of the above interest-bearing

bank borrowings, they are repayable within one year.
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22. DEFERRED TAX

The movements in deferred tax liabilities during the year are as
follows:

Deferred tax liabilities

Notes to Financial Statements

Bt %5 ¥R 5 Y A

31 March 2016 —ZE—X<"F=A=+—H

22. 3B %€ B
T 4F P AE B £ 2 BT -

YE #iE BE I £1 4

Losses available

Accelerated for offsetting
tax against future
depreciation taxable profits Total
W Ji] DA BN AR
o 228 Bt I R B ik
EiN 685 2 N 4 Mt
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
BT YT YT
At 1 April 2014 PN —H (3,012) 1,445 (1,567)
Deferred tax credited/ AR RAFIA
(charged) to the statement (F B ) Z 48 B IH
of profit or loss during (Kti#10)
the year (note 10) (39) 250 211
At 31 March 2015 and R_F—HFE=A=+—H
1 April 2015 K_F—HENMA—H (3,051) 1,695 (1,356)
Deferred tax credited/ AAEFER B RNEIA
(charged) to the statement ($11 B ) Z 958 B i
of profit or loss during (KtiEL0)
the year (note 10) (13) 293 280
At 31 March 2016 BRoZ-AFE=ZHA=1+—H (3,064) 1,988 (1,076)

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had tax losses
arising in Hong Kong of approximately HK$215,667,000 (2015:
HK$197,112,000) that are available indefinitely for offsetting
against future taxable profits of the companies in which the
losses arose. Deferred tax assets have not been recognised
in respect of tax losses of approximately HK$203,621,000
(2015: HK$186,841,000) as, in the opinion of the directors, it
is uncertain whether sufficient future taxable profits will be

available against which the tax losses can be utilised.

R BIR - AREEG B AW E A Z BUEE R
#1215,667,000% JC (=& — L. 4E : 197,112,000
W6 WA FR R ARG 3 S B s Z A
2 8% 2 E SR B Wi A o 2% £9203,621,000% JT
(ZF— T4 : 186,841,0009 70 ) 2 FiJE 5 15 36
JUE T 2 2 R AL R JE 2 > T E R T R R AR
it 58 J A5 A R A0 1 oA 2R I R Hai ) T 3t 41K 0 B
1 -
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22. DEFERRED TAX (continued) 22 VEHEBEYE (78)

The Group also has tax losses arising in Mainland China of
HK$31,660,000 (2015: HK$24,948,000) that will expire in five
years for offsetting against future taxable profits. Deferred tax
assets have not been recognised in respect of these losses as they
have arisen in a subsidiary with uncertain future operating profit
streams.

At the end of the reporting period, there was no significant
unrecognised deferred tax liability (2015: Nil) for taxes that
would be payable on the unremitted earnings of the Group’s
subsidiaries.

Pursuant to the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law, a 10%
withholding tax is levied on dividends declared to foreign
investors from the foreign investment enterprises established
in Mainland China. The requirement is effective from 1
January 2008 and applies to earnings after 31 December 2007.
A lower withholding tax rate may be applied if there is a tax
treaty between Mainland China and jurisdiction of the foreign
investors. For the Group, the applicable rate for the year ended
31 March 2016 is 5% (2015: 5%). The Group is therefore liable
for withholding taxes on dividends distributed by the subsidiary
established in Mainland China in respect of earnings generated

from 1 January 2008.

At 31 March 2016, no deferred income tax has been recognised
for withholding taxes that would be payable on the unremitted
earnings that are subject to withholding taxes of a subsidiary
and associates established in Mainland China. In the opinion
of the directors, it is not probable that the subsidiary and these
associates will distribute such earnings in the foreseeable future.
The share of the aggregate amount of temporary differences
associated with investments in the subsidiary and these associates
in Mainland China for which deferred tax liabilities have not
been recognised totalled approximately HK$21,677,000 at
31 March 2016 (2015: HK$18,640,000).

There are no income tax consequences attaching to the payment
of dividends by the Company to its shareholders.
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A 45 [ g5 A v B K e A A B I S 4H 31,660,000
Wt (ZF — L 4E : 24,948,0008 70) » I A%
FAE N B - AR EE H R R BLRR A o R
A B B8 TE s 48 2 I — [ R 2k 48788 96 AR A B B
2 B A R TR A A O T R 2 A A o

TP B OR > HBE S TR A 45 Y D 4 ] 2 R
AR 7 A 2 A A ST ) 53 R K R i R 2 A A
HAMR(ZF R ) o
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TR i 43 Ik 2 JBe 2 4 A TR B o

MR-FE—ANEZH=1+—H > A H
K e o7 = W B 2 ] BT A ) MR 4 A T 0
Bt 2 oA W Hh 2 ) T JRE 45 e 0 B i R AR A Pr 4%
B oo WRER L > WE 5] B S8 A mDIFAR
B A6 SR IR BB o i T — N
EA=1—H > BEA B A A B %% b
K BT 8 R BB B 2 B R A I
#121,677,000% ¢ (= F — L4 : 18,640,000
JL) °

o
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24.
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31 March 2016 —ZE—X<"F=A=+—H

SHARE CAPITAL 23. JBe AR
Shares e By
2016 2015
SR —F L
HK$°000 HK$’000
BT BT
Issued and fully paid: BT AR :
259,586,000 ordinary shares 259,586,000 )8 35 48 ik 117,095 117,095
Share options i IR e

Details of the Company’s share option scheme are included in
note 24 to the financial statements.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company operates a share option scheme for the purpose
of providing incentives and rewards to eligible participants who
contribute to the success of the Group’s operations. Eligible
participants of the scheme include the Company’s directors,
including independent non-executive directors, other employees
of the Company, and any director or employee of the Company’s
subsidiaries and entities in which the Group holds any equity

interest.

On 28 August 2012, the Company adopted a share option scheme
(the “Scheme”). The Scheme is valid and effective for a period
of 10 years up to 27 August 2022, after which no further share
options will be granted but the provisions of the Scheme shall
remain in full force and effect in all other respects. Share options
complying with the provisions of the Listing Rules which are
granted during the duration of the Scheme and those remain
unexercised immediately prior to the end of the 10-year period
shall continue to be exercisable in accordance with their terms
of grant as within the share option period for which such share

options are granted, notwithstanding the expiry of the Scheme.

AR ) 2 B P R S 1 SO B 2 o B 24 o

24, i JBE A w1 8

A2 T A W P MR A b S % e i A AR
MEEEGAAREMZAGERZME - 5 #)
ZHEWZMEBHARNF ZEF (B8
FEBATES) - H AR B KA A T A R R
AR B A ] T 0 2 AT o 2 S

5 o

WF—4ENHZ+)\H » KAFRMH—E
J B RE ST ([T 1) o 5T 2 A 300 & 104 »
BORCHENAZTLCHAIE s HEEAE
T4 AT AT i BB > H T 8 = sk A B A At
D7 WS SR R RO A K B A AR A A vl A B 4k
BT > SR EEE 104 80 IR > 184 R S
J0 i 3 AP R AT B8 2 TR ARE > A% BT R I e
B2 R 2 AR PEAT A > SR 25T E W 2 2 o
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24. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued) 24, i B BE w1 3 ()

The maximum number of unexercised share options currently
permitted to be granted under the Scheme is an amount
equivalent, upon their exercise, to 25,958,600 ordinary shares,
being 10% of the shares of the Company in issue on 28 August
2012. As at the date of this report, the total number of shares
available for issue under the Scheme is 25,958,600 ordinary
shares, representing 10% of the existing issued share capital of
the Company. The maximum number of shares issuable under
share options to each eligible participant in the Scheme within
any 12-month period is limited to 1% of the shares of the
Company in issue at any time. Any further grant of share options
in excess of this limit is subject to shareholders’ approval in a

general meeting.

Share options granted to a director, chief executive or
substantial shareholder of the Company, or to any of their
associates, are subject to approval in advance by the independent
non-executive directors of the Company (excluding any
independent non-executive director who is a grantee of the share
options). In addition, any share options granted to a substantial
shareholder or an independent non-executive director of the
Company, or to any of their associates, in excess of 0.1% of the
shares of the Company in issue at any time and with an aggregate
value (based on the closing price of the Company’s shares
at the date of each grant) in excess of HK$5 million, within
any 12-month period, are subject to shareholders’ approval in

advance in a general meeting.

The offer of a grant of share options may be accepted within 28
days from the date of offer, upon receipt of the duplicate offer
letter comprising acceptance of the offer duly signed by the
grantee with the number of shares in respect of which the offer
is accepted clearly stated therein, together with payment of a
nominal consideration of HK$1 by the grantee to the Company
provided that no offer shall be open for acceptance after the
expiry of the Scheme or after the Scheme has been terminated.
The terms and conditions of the share options granted are
determinable by the directors on a case-by-case basis. Such
terms and conditions may include, but are not limited to (i) the
subscription price; (ii) the period within which the Company’s
shares must be taken up under the share option, which must not
be more than 10 years from the offer date; (iii) the minimum
period, if any, for which a share option must be held before it can
be exercised; and (iv) the performance target, if any, that must be

achieved before the share option can be exercised.
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24. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

25

The exercise price of the share options is determinable by the
directors in their absolute discretion at the time of the making of
the offer which shall be stated in the letter containing the offer,
but may not be less than the highest of (i) the closing price of
the Company’s shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily
quotation sheet on the offer date which must be a trading day;
(i1) the average of the closing prices of the Company’s shares as
stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheets for the five
trading days immediately preceding the offer date; and (iii) the
nominal value of the Company’s shares.

Share options do not confer rights on the holders to dividends or

to vote at shareholders’ meetings.

During the year, no share option was granted to directors and
other employees of the Company or any director or employees of
the Company’s subsidiaries and entities in which the Group holds
any equity interests (2015: Nil).

At the end of the reporting period, the Company had no share
options outstanding under the Scheme (2015: Nil).

RESERVES

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the movements therein
for the current and prior years are presented in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity on pages 48 of the financial

statements.

Pursuant to the relevant laws and regulations for Foreign
Investment Enterprises, a portion of the profits of the Group’s
associates operating as Foreign Investment Enterprises in
Mainland China has been transferred to the share of other
reserves of associates. As at 31 March 2016, the share of other
reserves of associates of HK$4,019,000 (2015: HK$2,947,000)
was non-distributable in nature and could be utilised to offset the

losses incurred.
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26. OPERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENTS

(a)

(b)

26. BB LK

As lessor (a) fERMALA
The Group leases certain of its land and buildings under AR AR B F R L PR AL T L R
operating lease arrangements. Leases are negotiated for G o RRBERH Z A AT DL — (8 H 5 s T
terms of termination by one month’s written notice. PLE&IE o
At the end of the reporting period, the Group had total future T E IR > A48 B AR 48 R 2R AN A B =2
minimum lease receivables under non-cancellable operating #R58 AH AT R T 1 1 R RE W = f I 4 4R
leases with its tenant falling due as follows: W :
2016 2015
RN “E R
HK$’000 HKS$’000
T T W T T
Within one year —4EN 25 25
As lessee (b) fElsRMA

The Group leases certain retail shops under operating lease
arrangements. Leases are negotiated for terms of one year to
eleven years.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had total future
minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating

leases falling due as follows:

AEMLEKERELEREE TEE)E
Gl o B ZHAFER R —FEET 4 -

TR 5 IR A S AR B R AR A W] 88 2
AR LA T 7 T 5 39T PR A = de L < 4
BWE

2016 2015

TR N R A

HK$’000 HK$’000

W o BT

Within one year —4E N 3,659 3,870
In the second to fifth years B OEREHEN 15,460 14,807
After five years HEEE 7,857 12,206
26,976 30,883

The operating lease rentals of certain retail shops are based
on the contingent rent calculated on the sales of the retail
shops pursuant to the terms and conditions as set out in the
respective rental agreements. As the future sales of these
retail shops could not be estimated reliably, the relevant
contingent rent has not been included above and only the
minimum lease commitment has been included in the above
table.
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27. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(a) The Group had the following material transactions with its
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27. BN 122 5
(a) A7 5 RSB A 3T 3 F A A

related parties during the year: AR5
2016 2015
e SeVaY. ZR L
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
B it YT BT T
Rental income received from Tia) R 22 > ) AR 4
related companies WA i) 192 192
Rental income received from Ira 5 /8 > ) WA R 4
associates LN (i) 332 332
Sales of goods to associates I W56 2 A ] B R (ii1) 318 164
Purchases of goods from I T 7 A ) R I A
associates (iv) 1,693 3,464
Commission income from R B & A E Z MR A
associates v) 506 -
Commission expense to BT e A E Z A 4 B 32
associates v) 269 -
Notes: et -

(i) The tenancy agreements were entered into with related parties
on mutually agreed terms. The leases can be extended and
renewed until terminated by either party.

(ii) The tenancy agreements were entered into with associates
on mutually agreed terms. The leases can be extended and
renewed until terminated by either party.

(iii) The sales of goods to associates were made by reference
to prices and conditions similar to those offered to other

customers.

(iv) The purchases from the associates were determined by
reference to prices and conditions similar to those offered by

the associates to their major customers.

(v) The commission income/expenses were determined between

the Group and associates.

The related party transactions in respect of items (ii) to
(v) above constitute continuing connected transactions as
defined in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. Since the
amounts in respect of items (ii) to (v) are below de minimis
threshold for the purposes of Rule 14A.76 of the Listing
Rules, items (ii) to (v) are fully exempt from shareholders’
approval, annual review and all disclosure requirements
under the Listing Rules.

() BT Toh v 7 B 7 D A L E 2 K
WIOL o FHAAT IS R A » EL AT TF
TUKIL -

(i) L o e 7 O A L R E 2 K
RIOL o FHA RIS R A EL AT TF
T UKL -

(i) 1 g A W B4 £ TG 25 T KAl g B 3R
it 2 0L MR A A T S

(v) I I O W BR N TG 2 25 g O ) ) R 3R
% P PR DL RS R ARk i A o

(v) SN B ST A SR I BRI 4 4 W] [
A o

ESGHE)TEA B Z B AR 5
o 2 R B A2 B (3 b v R A 14 A EE BT IR
TZER) o B B EVEA W4
AT bR RSB 14 AL 7645 BT R R A 8 e
A o (i) (v) T HE A T R SR M R v
A A KA b LRI 2 i -
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27. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 27. BN L3R 5 (48
(continued)
(b) Outstanding balances with related parties: (b) HBEALZHAREELR -
Details of the balances with associates at the end of the R - B A ) Z AR RS o R
reporting period are included in note 13 to the financial T P 785 i B REL3 o
statements.
(c) Compensation of key management personnel of the Group: (c) AEEEEFIMALZHI :
2016 2015
N e
HK$’000 HK$’000
YT BT T
Short term employee benefits %% ] & & & F 5,253 5,562

Pension scheme contributions JEX o 1 614 192 219

Total compensation paid to key T[] £ A B Z A

management personnel Z S I 48 7 5,445 5,781
Further details of directors’ remuneration are included in B A 2 — 25 N O A A
note 8 to the financial statements. 8
28. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY 28. &M T HZ A8
CATEGORY
The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial REREBIR > S E@M TR ZREMEWT -

instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as follows:

Financial assets A E
Loans and receivables
ek B HE ek
2016 2015
S e
HK$’000 HK$’000
W T BT
Trade receivables JE WL & 5 Bk 20,434 22,790
Financial assets included in BRI A KIE ~ 58
prepayments, deposits and T Al 17 WA MR 75k
other receivables (note 17) Z R E (HaE17) 2,394 2,472
Due from associates R W T 7 2 ] 459 -
Cash and bank balances B4 MRAT A5 17 36,135 49,420
59,422 74,682
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28. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY

CATEGORY (continued)

Financial liabilities
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28. 4xigh T H 2 5y 3 ()

i £

Financial liabilities at
amortised cost

15 3 G AR A IR ¥ 4 i £ 45

2016 2015

SV S K 2

HK$’000 HK$°000

T BT

Due to associates JRE A Wi 7 2 ] 318 231

Trade and bills payables JEAT B 5 IRk B 5 13,555 14,213
Financial liabilities included A 5 T A A MR 5k
in other payables i = e L SE K

and accruals (note 20) (Kt i#20) 7,844 7,773

Interest-bearing bank borrowings AT R B Z SR AT K 147,985 164,229

169,702 186,446

29.FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL

INSTRUMENTS

Management has assessed that the fair values of cash and bank
balances, trade receivables, trade and bills payables, financial
assets included in prepayments, deposits and other receivables,
financial liabilities included in other payables and accruals,
amount due from/to associates and interest-bearing bank

borrowings approximate to their carrying amounts largely due to

the short term maturities of these instruments.

The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities are included
at the amount at which the instrument could be exchanged in a

current transaction between willing parties, other than in a forced

or liquidation sale.

During the year, there were no transfers of fair value
measurements between Level 1 and Level 2 and no transfers into
or out of Level 3 for both financial assets and financial liabilities

(2015: Nil).

29. ik T H 2 AFE

HHE TR BlERBRITAE - BKH SR
K~ MEAT B S Bk S SR~ B R TE AT R
AT 4 A R WHR R 2 B A~ R Al
B A BB ok B B it £ 2 £ - MR
BAF ZRIE U B AR B Z AT RRZ A
PAEE LR A RS E > ERHRZEETR
SR EER I

i A R BRI AR DL TR BB R 5 5
(5 78 175 Mt 5 R A ) W22 5 W AT 22 5 4
WA -

TAAAE L > 58— B 55 g =[] 3 48 2 F 1
s B 2 A U DA R G R R A M il R

T 2 45 O R A Bt 2 B (%
A fE) o
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30. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 30. IV %5 el B 4% BI H B % R

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

The Group’s principal financial instruments comprise interest-
bearing bank borrowings and cash and bank balances. The main
purpose of these financial instruments is to raise finance for
the Group’s operations. The Group has various other financial
assets and liabilities such as trade receivables and trade and bills

payables, which arise directly from its operations.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments are
interest rate risk, foreign currency risk, credit risk and liquidity
risk. The board of directors reviews and agrees policies for

managing each of these risks and they are summarised below.

Interest rate risk

The Group’s exposure to the risk of changes in market interest
rates relates primarily to the Group’s cash and bank balances and

short term debt obligations with floating interest rates.

The Group’s funding policy uses short term interest-bearing debts
to finance its working capital requirements. The Group borrows

mainly at floating interest rates.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably
possible change in Hong Kong dollar and RMB interest rate, with
all other variables held constant, of the Group’s profit/loss before
tax (through the impact on cash and bank balances and floating

rate borrowings) and the Group’s equity.
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30. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 30. 4 5 Ml gz 45 P H R B SR (7))
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES
(continued)
Interest rate risk (continued) ) 2 B ()
Increase/
Increase/ (decrease) Increase/
(decrease) in in loss (decrease)
basis points before tax in equity*
£+ 1 B B8 i s i il 22
Bim, (%) Bim, (W) Bim,/ (W4)
HKS$’000 HKS$’ 000
BT T BT o
2016 “E—NAE
Hong Kong dollar S 50 597 -
RMB AR 50 (23) =
Hong Kong dollar wot (50) (597) -
RMB AR (50) 23 -
Increase/
Increase/ (decrease) Increase/
(decrease) in in profit (decrease)
basis points before tax in equity*
B2 I A5 W i ) HE 25
¥, (W) B, ) B, (W)
HKS$’000 HK$°000
BT o BT o
2015 R4
Hong Kong dollar W 50 (627) -
RMB N 50 35 =
Hong Kong dollar WL (50) 627 -
RMB NS (50) (35) -
*  Excluding retained profits o RGO B A

—B-XEEH |

ERRRREERBER2A 117



Notes to Financial Statements

Bt #5825 B AE

31 March 2016 —ZZ2—X<E=ZA=+—H

30. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 30. B4 %5 b B 4% B H BE B B0k (48)

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES
(continued)

Foreign currency risk

The Group has transactional currency exposures. Such exposures
arise from sales or expenses of operating units in currencies
other than the units’ functional currencies. The Group’s monetary
assets, financing and transactions were principally denominated
in Hong Kong dollar, United States dollar and RMB. The Group
is exposed to the foreign exchange risk arising from changes
in the exchange rate of the Hong Kong dollar against RMB. At
present, the Group does not intend to seek to hedge its exposure
to foreign exchange fluctuations. However, the Group will
constantly review the economic situation and its foreign exchange
risk profile, and will consider appropriate hedging measures in

future as may be necessary.

Since the Hong Kong dollar is pegged to the United States dollar,
the Group’s exposure to foreign currency risk in respect of the
bank balances and trade and bills payables denominated in United

States dollars is considered to be minimal.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity at the end of
the reporting period to a reasonably possible change in the RMB
exchange rate, with all other variables held constant, of the
Group’s profit/loss before tax (due to changes in the fair value of
monetary assets and liabilities) and the Group’s equity (due to the

changes in the fair value of forward currency contracts).
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30. B4 %5 b B 4% B H BE B B0k (48)

(continued)
Foreign currency risk (continued) Ab B JE B ()
Increase/
Increase/ (decrease) Increase/
(decrease) in in loss (decrease)
basis points before tax in equity*
£+ 1 B e 1l M 4 il 22
Bim, (%) Bim, (W) ¥im, (WA)
HKS$’000 HKS$’ 000
BT T BT T
2016 “E—NAE
If Hong Kong dollar weakens T S\ R 55 4
against RMB (50) (203) -
If Hong Kong dollar strengthens #5050\ R iR 24
against RMB 50 203 -
Increase/
Increase/ (decrease) Increase/
(decrease) in in profit (decrease)
basis points before tax in equity*
B I A5 I i ) HE #i *
B, (W) B, i) B, (i)
HK$’000 HK$°000
BT T T
2015 S TS
If Hong Kong dollar weakens 7T S\ R 55 4
against RMB (50) 342 -
If Hong Kong dollar strengthens #5050\ R 5 24
against RMB 50 (342) -

& Excluding retained profits

o AR R B A
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30. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 30. B4 %5 b B 4% B H BE B B0k (48)

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES
(continued)

Credit risk

The Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy
customers. It is the Group’s policy that all customers who wish to
trade on credit terms are subject to credit verification procedures.
In addition, receivable balances are monitored on an ongoing

basis and the Group’s exposure to bad debts is not significant.

The credit risk of the Group’s other financial assets, which
comprise cash and bank balances and other receivables, arises
from default of the counterparty, with a maximum exposure equal

to the carrying amounts of these instruments.

Since the Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy
customers, there is no requirement for collateral. Concentrations
of credit risk are managed by analysis by customer/counterparty.
There are no significant concentrations of credit risk within the
Group as the customer bases of the Group’s trade receivables are

widely dispersed.

Further quantitative data in respect of the Group’s exposure to
credit risk arising from trade and other receivables are disclosed

in notes 16 and 17, respectively, to the financial statements.

Liquidity risk

The Group monitors its risk to a shortage of funds using a
recurring liquidity planning tool. This tool considers the maturity
of both its financial instruments and financial assets (e.g., trade

receivables) and projected cash flows from operations.

The Group’s objective is to maintain a balance between
continuity of funding and flexibility through the use of
interest-bearing bank borrowings.
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30. B4 %5 b B 4% B H BE B B0k (48)

(continued)
Liquidity risk (continued) it By o 4 L B (7))
The maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities as IR O AR B BLAR K » DL #k 51) A< 4 [ 7 0t
at the end of the reporting period, based on the contractual HHRZEMAEDIHHE -
undiscounted payments, is as follows:
On demand or
less than 12 months
A k1248 A
2016 2015
RN “E—-h4E
HK$’000 HK$°000
BT BT
Due to associates JRE A Wik 7 2 ] 318 231
Trade and bills payables JE A B 5 Rk B 5 13,555 14,213
Other payables JL il JE £ B 3k 7,844 7,773
Interest-bearing bank borrowings TR BT R B Z SR AT K 148,704 165,036
170,421 187,253
Capital management ¥ A4 P

The primary objectives of the Group’s capital management are to
safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern and
to maintain healthy capital ratios in order to support its business
and maximise shareholders’ value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments
to it in light of changes in economic conditions. To maintain or
adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the dividend
payment to shareholders, return capital to shareholders or issue
new shares. The Group is required to comply with certain
externally imposed capital requirements set out in certain of its
banking facility letters.

As at 31 March 2016, there was no indication of breach of
covenants and the Group complied with the externally imposed
capital requirements. No changes were made in the objectives,
policies or processes for managing capital during the years ended
31 March 2016 and 31 March 2015.

A ) 2 A T e AR A 4 B A
3 AR A R S5 i ) O A B R AR
Lo 3 DA 32 R S0 5 3 e RAL R SRR -

7K 5% [ R 8 A A0 1 2 A B A B A A I
T DA R o T A wl B A A o AR I T
O e IR OR Z IR B, ~ 1) e SRR [B A R AT T
JBe o ACHR WA A oo T SRAT B0 oK I
ZH T AR 2 EAER o

RO -AEZHEH o RIBR I
BF% > T A S 4S8 HG I 2 AR o
RESF A=A AR E TS
A HIRAE R » SR H B - BOR
KRR S th BLE ) -
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Notes to Financial Statements
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30. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES
(continued)

Capital management (continued)

The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is
interest-bearing bank borrowings divided by equity attributable
to equity holders of the Company. The gearing ratio is regularly
reviewed by senior management. The gearing ratios as at the end

of the reporting periods were as follows:

30. B4 %5 b B 4% B H BE B B0k (48)

B A B (A0

ACHR A R RTE A B R B A HSER
RS R B 2 BRAT B2k B DA A 2 R 25 B A %
B A B i P 5 B R o £ (RS b R o vy A B
JE SRR o RECEBIR > BREARLRNT :

2016 2015

RN R A

HK$’000 HKS$’000

BT b

Interest-bearing bank borrowings IR BT R B Z SR AT B 147,985 164,229
Equity attributable to equity S B 7 AR 2 W) RE 2R

holders of the Company FiF & iR 25 415,132 444,060

Gearing ratio HEEAR LK 36 % 37%
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31. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL

POSITION OF THE COMPANY

Information about the statement of financial position of the

Company at the end of the reporting period is as follows:

Notes to Financial Statements

Bt %5 ¥R 5 Y A

31 March 2016 —ZE—X<"F=A=+—H

31. A 2 ) BB R O %

AN TR AR Z B AR DR G -

2016 2015
TR N R AR
HK$’000 HK$’000
T BT oo
NON-CURRENT ASSETS R W) ¥
Interests in subsidiaries R E A F Z % E 135,536 146,623
CURRENT ASSETS Ui W) ¥
Due from subsidiaries JRE Wt R i 2 ) 24,457 17,883
Prepayments, deposits and AT - W& R
other receivables JHC Ath, R Wi ik I 127 127
Cash and bank balances Bl & M SRAT B 1F 208 190
Total current assets it B AR 24,792 18,200
CURRENT LIABILITIES i B 8 4%
Due to subsidiaries JE A B} i 2 ) 3,000 3,000
Other payables and accruals JHE Al JE Ak T M i £ AR 3,516 3,477
Total current liabilities it B AR 6,516 6,477
NET CURRENT ASSETS Ui B 18,276 11,723
Net assets B A A 153,812 158,346
EQUITY B 2%
Share capital i@ 117,095 117,095
Retained profits (note) PR EE A (M) 36,717 41,251
Total equity HE 2 484 153,812 158,346

TAI Tak Fung, Stephen %5 '

Director #H F

MAN Wing Cheung, Ellis 30K #

Director #

—B-XEEH |
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Notes to Financial Statements
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31. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL
POSITION OF THE COMPANY
(continued)

Note:

A summary of the Company’s retained profits is as follows:

31 A2 v B IR Bt 3% (4)

M &t

AR F AR B A Z BEEEE

Retained

profits

PR B8 A

HK$’ 000

BT

At 31 March 2014 R -NE=ZH=+—H 45,844
Total comprehensive loss for the year AR JE 48 2 T i 1R (4,593)
At 31 March 2015 REF—HFE=ZA=1+—H 41,251
Total comprehensive loss for the year AR AT JBE 48 2 T i 4R (4,534)
At 31 March 2016 R -AFE=ZH=A+—H 36,717

32. APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue
by the board of directors on 29 June 2016.
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